
 
Chief Executive   
Ian Davidson  
 
 

www.tendringdc.gov.uk 
Minicom: 01255 475566  

 
 
 
 
 

 
IAN DAVIDSON, CHIEF EXECUTIVE, TOWN HALL, STATION ROAD, CLACTON-ON-SEA, ESSEX, CO15 1SE.  TELEPHONE (01255) 686868 

 

PREMISES / PERSONAL LICENCES 
SUB-COMMITTEE 

 
DATE: Friday, 10 March 2023 

TIME: 11.30 am 

 

VENUE: Committee Room  - Town Hall, 
Station Road, Clacton-on-Sea, CO15 
1SE 

 

 
 
MEMBERSHIP: 
 

 

Councillor V Guglielmi 
Councillor Coley  
 

Councillor Davis 
Councillor Casey (Standby 
Member) 

 

AG
EN

D
A

Public Document Pack

http://www.tendringdc.gov.uk/


  
Most Council meetings are open to the public and press. The space for 
the public and press will be made available on a first come first served 
basis. Agendas are available to view five working days prior to the 
meeting date and the Council aims to publish Minutes within five working 
days of the meeting. Meeting papers can be provided, on request, in large 
print, in Braille, or on disc, tape, or in other languages. 
 
This meeting will be filmed by the Council for live and/or subsequent 
broadcast on the Council’s website. The whole of the meeting will be 
filmed, except where there are confidential or exempt items, and the 
footage will be on the website for up to 24 months (the Council retains 
one full year of recordings and the relevant proportion of the current 
Municipal Year). The Council will seek to avoid/minimise footage of 
members of the public in attendance at, or participating in, the meeting. 
In addition, the Council is obliged by law to allow members of the public 
to take photographs, film, audio record and report on the proceedings at 
public meetings. The Council will only seek to prevent this should it be 
undertaken in a disruptive or otherwise inappropriate manner. 
 
If you have any queries regarding webcasting or the recording of 
meetings by the public, please contact Hattie Dawson-Dragisic Email: 
hdawson-dragisic@tendringdc.gov.uk or Telephone on 01255 686186 
 
 

 

 
 DATE OF PUBLICATION: Thursday, 2 March 2023  

 



AGENDA 
 
  
1 Chairman for the meeting  
 
 The Sub-Committee is required to elect its Chairman for this meeting.  

  
2 Apologies for Absence and Substitutions  
 
 The Committee is asked to note any apologies for absence and substitutions received 

from Members. 
  

3 Minutes of the Meetings of the Sub-Committee 8 April 2022 (Pages 1 - 16) 
 
 To confirm and sign as a correct record, the minutes of the two meetings of the Sub-

Committee, held on Friday 8 April 2022.  
  

4 Declarations of Interest  
 
 Councillors are invited to declare any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests or Personal 

Interest, and the nature of it, in relation to any item on the agenda. 
  

5 Report of Assistant Director (Governance & Legal) - A.1 - Application for the grant 
of permission to show unclassified films (Pages 17 - 74) 

 
 To determine a request for the licence holder to show to the public a number of 

short films that have not been classified by the British Board of Film Classification.  
 
The request to show the short films has been made by Michael Offord of Electric 
Palace Harwich. The films would be shown at the Electric Palace Harwich towards 
the end of March 2023. 
 

 
 



 
Date of the Next Scheduled Meeting 
 
The next scheduled meeting of the Premises / Personal Licences Sub-Committee will be 
held on a date to be announced in due course.  

 
 

Information for Visitors 
 
 
 

FIRE EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 

There is no alarm test scheduled for this meeting.  In the event of an alarm sounding, please 
calmly make your way out of any of the fire exits in the room and follow the exit signs out of the 
building. 
 
Please heed the instructions given by any member of staff and they will assist you in leaving the 
building and direct you to the assembly point. 
 
Please do not re-enter the building until you are advised it is safe to do so by the relevant member 
of staff. 
 
Your calmness and assistance is greatly appreciated. 
 



 Premises / Personal Licences Sub-
Committee 
 

8 April 2022  

 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE PREMISES / PERSONAL LICENCES SUB-
COMMITTEE, 

HELD ON FRIDAY, 8TH APRIL, 2022 AT 1.30 PM 
IN THE COMMITTEE ROOM  - TOWN HALL, STATION ROAD, CLACTON-ON-SEA, 

CO15 1SE 
 
Present: Councillors Casey, McWilliams and Turner 

 
Also Present: Jonathan Smith – Poppleston Allen,Solicitors (representing Park 

Resorts Limited), Andy Kemp (Licensing Manager - Park Resorts 
Limited) and Tom Joyce (General Manager, Naze Marine Caravan 
Park) 

In Attendance: Linda Trembath (Senior Solicitor (Litigation and Governance) & 
Deputy Monitoring Officer), Michael Cook (Licensing Manager), 
Debbie Bunce (Legal and Governance Administration Officer) and 
Lisa Tann (Licensing Technical Officer) 

 
 

48. CHAIRMAN FOR THE MEETING  
 
It was moved by Councillor McWilliams, seconded by Councillor Turner and: 
 
RESOLVED – That Councillor Casey be elected as Chairman for the meeting. 
 

49. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  
 
There were no apologies for absence, or substitutions. 
 

50. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were none. 
 
 

51. REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR, PARTNERSHIPS - A.1 - APPLICATION FOR 
THE VARIATION OF A PREMISES LICENCE - NAZE ARMADA, NAZE MARINE 
CARAVAN PARK, HALL LANE, WALTON-ON-THE-NAZE, ESSEX  
 
The Chairman, Councillor Casey welcomed everyone to the meeting and made 
introductory remarks. 
 
The Council’s  Licensing Manager (Michael Cook) then gave a verbal summary of the 
written report and advised that the Sub-Committee had before it, for its consideration, as 
set out in Item A.1 of the Report of the Assistant Director, Partnerships, an application 
for the variation of a Premises Licence in respect of the Naze Armada, Naze Marine 
Caravan Park, Hall Lane, Walton-on-the-Naze, CO14 8HL. 
 
The Sub-Committee had been informed that this application had been made under the 
Licensing Act 2003 for the variation of the Premises Licence and thereby to increase the 
opening hours, and the permitted hours for the sale of alcohol and regulated 
entertainment.  In addition, the current layout plans would be amended with two further 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 Premises / Personal Licences Sub-
Committee 
 

8 April 2022  

 

external areas added to the licensed area which were both directly outside the 
entertainment complex. 
 
Section 2.1 of the Officer’s written report set out a general description of the premises 
which was as follows: 
 
“The premises was previously describe as a caravan holiday park with club room and 
bar with facilities for the sale of alcohol.  The park also has facilities for the provision of 
food, drink and entertainment”. 
 
Section 2.2 of the written report set out the current opening hours which were as follows: 
 
Monday to Sunday  00:00 - 00:00 

 
SHOP PREMISES ONLY 
Monday to Sunday  08:00 - 23:00 
 
Sections 3.0 and 3.1 of the written report set out the current and proposed licensable 
activities which were as follows: 
 
Current Licensable Activities – Permitted Hours 
 
Exhibition of a Film 
Monday to Thursday  10:00 - 00:00 (Indoors) 
Fridays and Saturdays  10:00 - 00:30 (Indoors) 
Sunday  10:00 - 00:00 (Indoors) 
Monday to Sunday  14:00 - 23:00 (Outdoors) 
 
Indoor Sporting Event 
Monday to Thursday  10:00 - 00:00 
Fridays and Saturdays  10:00 - 00:30 
Sunday  10:00 - 00:00 
 
Performance of Live Music 
Monday to Thursday  10:00 - 00:00 (Indoors) 
Fridays and Saturdays  10:00 - 00:30 (Indoors) 
Sunday  10:00 - 00:00 (Indoors) 
Monday to Sunday  11:30 - 19:00 (Outdoors) 
 
Performance of Recorded Music 
Monday to Thursday  10:00 - 00:00 (Indoors) 
Fridays and Saturdays  10:00 - 00:30 (Indoors) 
Sunday  10:00 - 00:00 (Indoors) 
Monday to Sunday  11:30 - 19:00 (Outdoors) 
 
Performance of Dance 
Monday to Thursday  10:00 - 00:00 (Indoors) 
Fridays and Saturdays  10:00 - 00:30 (Indoors) 
Sunday  10:00 - 00:00 (Indoors) 
Monday to Sunday  11:30 - 19:00 (Outdoors) 
 

Page 2



 Premises / Personal Licences Sub-
Committee 
 

8 April 2022  

 

Other Entertainment falling within Act 
Monday to Thursday  10:00 - 00:00 (Indoors) 
Fridays and Saturdays  10:00 - 00:30 (Indoors) 
Sunday  10:00 - 00:00 (Indoors) 
Monday to Sunday  11:30 - 19:00 (Outdoors) 
 
Provision of facilities for making music 
Monday to Thursday  10:00 - 00:00 (Indoors) 
Fridays and Saturdays  10:00 - 00:30 (Indoors) 
Sunday  10:00 - 00:00 (Indoors) 
 
Provision of facilities for dancing 
Monday to Thursday  10:00 - 00:00 (Indoors) 
Fridays and Saturdays  10:00 - 00:30 (Indoors) 
Sunday  10:00 - 00:00 (Indoors) 
 
Late Night Refreshment 
Monday to Thursday  23:00 - 00:00 (Indoors) 
Fridays and Saturdays  23:00 - 00:30 (Indoors) 
Sunday  23:00 - 00:00 (Indoors) 
 
Sale of Alcohol on and off the premises 
Monday to Thursday  10:00 - 00:00 
Fridays and Saturdays  10:00 - 00:30 
Sunday  10:00 - 00:00 
 
Boxing or Wrestling 
Monday to Sunday  09:00 - 23:00 Club House Only 
 
SHOP PREMISES ONLY 
Sale of Alcohol off the premises  
Monday to Sunday  08:00 - 23:00 
 
ACTIVITIES – PROPOSED PERMITTED HOURS 
 
Opening Hours 
Mondays to Sundays 00:00 – 24:00 
 
SHOP PREMISES ONLY 
Mondays to Sundays  08:00 - 23:00 
 
Provision of Plays 
Mondays to Sundays 10:00 – 02:00 (Indoors) 
10:00 – 23:00 (Outdoors) 
 
Non Standard Timings 
An additional hour to the standard and non-standard timings on the day when British  
Summer Time commences. 
 
From the end of permitted hours on New Year’s Eve to the start of permitted hours on 
New Year’s Day. 

Page 3



 Premises / Personal Licences Sub-
Committee 
 

8 April 2022  

 

 
Provision of Films 
Mondays to Sundays 10:00 – 02:00 (Indoors) 
10:00 – 23:00 (Outdoors) 
 
Non Standard Timings 
 
An additional hour to the standard and non-standard timings on the day when British  
Summer Time commences. 
 
From the end of permitted hours on New Year’s Eve to the start of permitted hours on 
New Year’s Day. 
 
Provision of Indoor Sporting Events 
Mondays to Sundays 10:00 – 02:00 (Indoors) 
 
Provision of Boxing or Wrestling Entertainments 
Mondays to Sundays 10:00 – 02:00 (Indoors) 
10:00 – 23:00 (Outdoors) 
 
Non Standard Timings 
An additional hour to the standard and non-standard timings on the day when British  
Summer Time commences. 
 
From the end of permitted hours on New Year’s Eve to the start of permitted hours on 
New Year’s Day. 
 
Provision of Recorded Music 
Mondays to Sundays 10:00 – 02:00 (Indoors) 
10:00 – 23:00 (Outdoors) 
 
Non Standard Timings 
An additional hour to the standard and non-standard timings on the day when British  
Summer Time commences. 
 
From the end of permitted hours on New Year’s Eve to the start of permitted hours on 
New Year’s Day. 
 
Provision of Performances of Dance 
Mondays to Sundays 10:00 – 02:00 (Indoors) 
10:00 – 23:00 (Outdoors) 
 
Non Standard Timings 
An additional hour to the standard and non-standard timings on the day when British  
Summer Time commences. 
 
From the end of permitted hours on New Year’s Eve to the start of permitted hours on 
New Year’s Day. 
 
Provision of anything of a similar description to live music, recorded music, or 
performances of dance 

Page 4



 Premises / Personal Licences Sub-
Committee 
 

8 April 2022  

 

Mondays to Sundays 10:00 – 02:00 (Indoors) 
10:00 – 23:00 (Outdoors) 
 
Non Standard Timings 
An additional hour to the standard and non-standard timings on the day when British  
Summer Time commences. 
 
From the end of permitted hours on New Year’s Eve to the start of permitted hours on 
New Year’s Day. 
 
Provision of Late Night Refreshment 
Mondays to Sundays 23:00 – 02:00 (Indoors) 
   
Non Standard Timings 
An additional hour to the standard and non-standard timings on the day when British  
Summer Time commences. 
 
From the end of permitted hours on New Year’s Eve to the start of permitted hours on 
New Year’s Day. 
 
Supply of Alcohol on and off the premises 
Mondays to Sundays 10:00 – 02:00 (Indoors) 
10:00 – 23:00 (Outdoors) 
 
Non Standard Timings 
An additional hour to the standard and non-standard timings on the day when British  
Summer Time commences. 
 
From the end of permitted hours on New Year’s Eve to the start of permitted hours on 
New Year’s Day. 
 
SHOP PREMISES ONLY 
 
Sale of Alcohol off the premises  
Mondays to Sundays  08:00 - 23:00 (No Variation to existing hours  
      already in place) 
 
The applicant also stated the steps that they proposed to take to promote the statutory 
licensing objectives and those steps were detailed in Sections 4.1 to 4.5 inclusive of the 
Officer report. 
 
Members were further informed that one letter of representation/objection had been 
received from the local Councillor in relation to this application.  No representations had 
been received from any of the Responsible Authorities. 
 
 The Sub-Committee had before it for its information the relevant extracts from the 
Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy in respect of planning considerations and the 
statutory ‘Prevention of Public Nuisance’ Licensing Objective. 
 

Page 5



 Premises / Personal Licences Sub-
Committee 
 

8 April 2022  

 

Members also had before them for their assistance the policy considerations and 
relevant paragraphs from the Home Office’s Section 182 Guidance that accompanied 
the Licensing Act 2003 in respect of the following – 
 
 (1) Prevention of Public Nuisance 
 (2) Prevention of Crime and Disorder; and 
 (3) Planning and Building Control Guidance 
 
Members also had before them the Application Form and supporting documentation, a 
location plan and a copy of the representation/objection letters. 
 
The Chairman invited the Applicant, Park Resorts Limited to give its representations to 
the Sub-Committee. 
 
The Applicant, (Park Resorts Limited) were represented by Jonathan Smith of 
Poppleston Allen Solicitors.  Mr Tom Joyce, the Designated Premises Supervisor and 
General Manager for the Naze Marine Caravan Park was also in attendance, together 
with Andy Kemp, the  Licensing  Manager for Park Resorts Limited. 
 
Mr Smith addressed the Sub-Committee and advised that the application was to vary 
the hours of the Premises Licence for indoor and outdoor activities and to change the 
layout plan to include two new outside entertainment areas.  He referred the Sub-
Committee to the plans on pages 50 and 51 of the Officer Report and state that the plan 
on page 51 was an overview of the Caravan Park with the hatched areas being the 
areas that were licensed for outdoor entertainment.  Currently the outside areas were 
licenced for licensable activities until 7.00 p.m. but a change of hours to 11.00 p.m. was 
now being requested.  Mr Smith advised that he understood the objector, Councillor 
Miles, was happy with those hours.  The Applicant wished to be able to offer “Movie’s 
under the Stars” and other entertainment outside by licensing the two additional outdoor 
areas.  He also advised that the hours and licensable activities of the two hatched areas 
outside which were already licensed were to remain the same as the current licence. 
 
Mr Smith advised that £2 million was being spent on the Park with £1 million on areas 
around the entertainment complex.  There would be a covered outside seating area and 
stage area, plus the Horseshoe Bar and two retail units in order to provide more choice 
for guests.  The Applicant was looking to introduce outdoor entertainment, which was 
partially due to the pandemic when it had become apparent that guests preferred to sit 
outside.  The outside stage would be used during the day time for children’s 
entertainment and for live singers in the evenings who would finish at around 10.00 p.m. 
 
Mr Smith advised that an Acoustic Report had been submitted (and which had been 
included in the report to the Sub-Committee).  He explained that the background noise 
levels had been measured at the residential premises nearest to the site.  That level had 
set the level of noise that could then be produced on the stage.  He advised that all 
amplified music went through a noise limiter. 
 
Mr Smith advised that a Licence was needed to sell alcohol outside from 10.00 am. until 
10.00 p.m.  The later hours were for the areas marked red on the plan included in the 
report. 
 

Page 6



 Premises / Personal Licences Sub-
Committee 
 

8 April 2022  

 

The Chairman asked if any Members had questions that they would like to ask Mr 
Smith. 
 
Mr Smith was asked whether the trees along the boundary line of the park were still in 
existence and the Sub-Committee was advised that they were. 
 
Mr Smith was asked about the hours requested in respect of the indoor premises and he 
advised that, at the present time, the premises were licenced until Midnight Sundays to 
Thursdays and until 12.30 a.m. on Fridays and Saturdays and that the Applicant was 
applying to extend the hours until 2.00 a.m. 
 
Mr Smith said that the objection that had been received had stated that there should be 
parity with other nearby premises but he advised that other premises nearby were 
licensed for 12 midnight or 1.30 a.m. and that currently the Park did not have those 
hours.  The Licence Conditions only allowed the Applicant to sell alcohol to residents on 
the Park.  Access to the Park was controlled by Security Guards and residents had to 
have a pass to gain entry to the Park.  The Park had operated until 12 midnight or 12.30 
a.m. for some time and had never had any complaints. 
 
Mr Smith advised that 70% of the caravans were occupied by people who owned those 
caravans. 
 
Mr Smith pointed out that there had been no objections received from the Responsible 
Authorities.  He advised that there was air conditioning in the indoor areas so that there 
was no need to open doors and that there was also a noise limiter in the Show Bar.  He 
reiterated that the park was not open to the general public.  There were up to three or 
four security personnel on duty at night. 
 
Members asked where the nearest residents were and Mr Smith explained that where 
the noise measurements had been taken for the acoustic report the levels had to be a 
maximum of 88db during the day and 85db in the evening but that they would not, in 
fact, exceed 85db at any time.  Those measurements had been taken at the property 
nearest to the boundary of the Park. 
 
Mr Smith was asked whether there was security on site 24 hours a day and he 
confirmed that there was.  There was a 24 hour barrier at the entrance to the site with 
an intercom for residents use. 
 
Mr Smith was asked whether the Designated Premises Supervisor (DPS) (who is also 
the General Manager of the Park) lived on site and the Sub-Committee were advised 
that the DPS lived off site in Colchester.  Mr Smith was asked who was responsible for 
the licensed areas when the DPS was not present and he advised that in addition to the 
DPS, there was also a Complex Manager and bar supervisors who are well trained to 
serve alcohol.  Mr Kemp confirmed that the Complex Managerwas in overall charge 
when the DPS was not present and that role is the second in charge after the General 
Manager.  Mr Kemp also advised that they were currently recruiting to the role of 
Complex Manager and this role was usually a personal licence holder as well. 
 
The Sub-Committee, the Council’s Solicitor and the Legal and Governance 
Administration Officer then withdrew from the meeting in order for the Sub-Committee to 
consider the application and to reach a decision. 

Page 7



 Premises / Personal Licences Sub-
Committee 
 

8 April 2022  

 

 
After a period of time, the Sub-Committee, the Council’s Solicitor and the Legal and 
Governance Administration Officer then returned to the meeting. 
 
The Chairman of the Sub-Committee then read out the following decision: 
 
1. The Sub Committee has given careful consideration to this application.  In 

reaching our decision, we have taken into account the views expressed by the 
Applicant, the representations received from residents along with the Guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State and other matters set out in the Licensing 
Authority's own Statement of Licensing Policy. 

 
2. The decision of the Sub-Committee is to grant this application in full subject to a 

Designated Premises Supervisor or a Personal Licence holder being on duty 
whilst the licensed premises/areas are open. 

 
Finally, I must mention that all parties who are aggrieved at the decision of the Sub-
Committee have the right of appeal to the Magistrates' Court. 
 
This Decision was made today, 8 April 2022 and will be confirmed in writing to all 
parties. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 The meeting was declared closed at 2.35 pm  
  

 
 

Chairman 
 

Page 8



 Premises / Personal Licences Sub-
Committee 
 

8 April 2022  

 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE PREMISES / PERSONAL LICENCES SUB-
COMMITTEE, 

HELD ON FRIDAY, 8TH APRIL, 2022 AT 10.34 AM 
IN THE COMMITTEE ROOM  - TOWN HALL, STATION ROAD, CLACTON-ON-SEA, 

CO15 1SE 
 
Present: Councillors Casey, McWilliams and Turner 

 
In Attendance: Linda Trembath (Senior Solicitor (Litigation and Governance) & 

Deputy Monitoring Officer), Michael Cook (Licensing Manager), 
Debbie Bunce (Legal and Governance Administration Officer) and 
Chloe Blackwell (Licensing Enforcement Officer) 

 
 

43. CHAIRMAN OF THE MEETING  
 
It was moved by Councillor Turner, seconded by Councillor Casey and: 
 
RESOLVED – That Councillor McWilliams be elected as Chairman for the meeting. 
 

44. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  
 
There were no apologies for absence, or substitutions. 
 

45. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETINGS  
 
The minutes of the meetings of the Premises/Personal Licences Sub-Committee held on 
13 August 2021 and 19 August 2021 were approved as correct records and signed by 
the Chairman. 
 

46. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were none. 
 

47. REPORT OF THE ASSISTANT DIRECTOR, PARTNERSHIPS - A.1 - APPLICATION 
FOR THE GRANT OF A CLUB PREMISES CERTIFICATE - UPPER DOVERCOURT 
SOCIAL CLUB, 618 MAIN ROAD, HARWICH, ESSEX  CO12 4LW  
 
The Chairman, Councillor McWilliams welcomed everyone to the meeting and made 
introductory remarks. 
 
The Council’s  Licensing Manager (Michael Cook) then gave a verbal summary of the 
written report and advised that the Sub-Committee had before it, for its consideration, as 
set out in item A.1 of the Report of the Assistant Director, Partnerships , an application 
for the grant of a Club Premises Certificate in respect of the Upper Dovercourt Social 
Club, 618 Main Road, Dovercourt, CO12 4LW. 
 
The Sub-Committee was informed that this application had been made under the 
Licensing Act 2003 for a Club Premises Certificate to include the supply of alcohol on 
and off the premises, performance of dance, exhibition of films, indoor sporting events, 

Public Document Pack

Page 9



 Premises / Personal Licences Sub-
Committee 
 

8 April 2022  

 

performance of live music, performance of recorded music, performance of plays and 
regulated entertainment of a similar description. 
 
Section 2.1 of the Officer’s written report set out a general description of the premises 
which was as follows: 
 
“Upper Dovercourt Social Club offers a relaxed environment for its members to enjoy 
shared interests in darts, pool and cribbage. 
 
Entertainment in the form of live music, quiz nights and bingo will also be available to 
members. 
 
Members will have the opportunity to join and host sports competitions with the 
availability of club sponsorship. 
 
Section 2.2 of the written report set out the proposed opening hours which were as 
follows: 
 
Mondays to Thursdays and Sundays  10:00 – 00:30 
Fridays and Saturdays   10:00 – 01:30 
 
Section 3.0 of the written report set out the proposed licensable activities which were as 
follows: 
 
3.1 Performance of Plays 
 Mondays to Sundays    10:00 – 00:00 
 
3.2 Exhibition of Films 
 Mondays to Thursdays and Sundays  10:00 – 00:30 

Fridays and Saturdays   10:00 – 01:30 
 
3.3 Indoor Sporting Events 
 Mondays to Thursdays and Sundays  10:00 – 00:30 

Fridays and Saturdays   10:00 – 01:30 
 
3.4 Performance of Live Music 
 Mondays to Thursdays and Sundays  10:00 – 23:00 

Fridays and Saturdays   10:00 – 00:00 
 
3.5 Performance of Recorded Music 
 Mondays to Thursdays   10:00 – 00:00 

Fridays and Saturdays   10:00 – 01:00 
 Sundays     10:00 – 23:00 
 
3.6 Performance of Dance 
 Mondays to Thursdays   10:00 – 00:00 

Fridays and Saturdays   10:00 – 01:00 
 Sundays     10:00 – 23:00 
 
3.7 Provision of facilities for making music 
 Mondays to Saturdays   10:00 – 00:00 

Page 10



 Premises / Personal Licences Sub-
Committee 
 

8 April 2022  

 

 Sundays     10:00 – 23:00 
 
3.8 Provision of facilities for dancing 
 Mondays to Saturdays   10:00 – 00:00 
 Sundays      10:00 – 23:00 
 
3.9 Supply of Alcohol on and off the premises 
 Mondays to Thursdays and Sundays  10:00 – 00:00 

Fridays and Saturdays   10:00 – 01:00 
 
 
Members were made aware that the applicant had also stated the steps that they 
proposed to take to promote the statutory licensing objectives and those steps were 
detailed in Sections 4.1 to 4.5 inclusive of the Officer report. 
 
Members were further informed that 6 letters of representation/objection had been 
received from residents in relation to this application.  No representations had been 
received from any responsible authorities. 
 
 The Sub-Committee had before it for its information the relevant extracts from the 
Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy in respect of planning considerations and the 
statutory ‘Prevention of Public Nuisance’ Licensing Objective. 
 
Members also had before them for their assistance the policy considerations and 
relevant paragraphs from the Home Office’s Section 182 Guidance that accompanied 
the Licensing Act 2003 in respect of the following – 
 
 (1) Prevention of Public Nuisance 
 (2) Prevention of Crime and Disorder; and 
 (3) Planning and Building Control Guidance 
 
Members also had before them the Application Form and supporting documentation, a 
location plan and copies of the representation/objection letters. 
 
The Chairman then asked Members if they had any questions at this time for the 
Licensing Manager (Michael Cook). 
 
The Licensing Manager was asked why there had not been a site visit and the Licensing 
Manager advised that site visits did not normally take place under the Licensing 
legislation. 
 
Members then asked questions of the applicant Ms Aimi Wosko. 
 
Councillor Turner said that he considered the road outside the Club to be a major issue 
and asked how any increase in traffic was going to be dealt with.  The Applicant advised 
that most members of the Club would reside locally so there would not be a need for a 
lot of parking.   
 
The applicant was asked whether there was a car park at the premises and the Sub-
Committee was advised that there was no car park and that parking was outside the 

Page 11



 Premises / Personal Licences Sub-
Committee 
 

8 April 2022  

 

front of the Club.  The applicant also advised that there would be no admittance to the 
Club without membership. 
 
The Applicant then went onto say that they were in talks with Harwich Connexions in 
order to provide a bus service and that they would advertise any events. There were 
several disabled members of the Club who use motorised scooters.  The premises had 
been used for an active church and Pre-School up until recently and there had not been 
any issues with parking at that time.  There were yellow lines outside the premises but 
these were not in operation on Saturdays and Sundays.  There was another pub and a 
Chinese Take-Away and Fish and Chip Shop on the same road and traffic could be 
busy when the Fish and Chip Shop was open.  The church had been open every 
morning and the Pre-School had operated between 9.00 a.m. and 3.00 p.m, and 
therefore not as late as the hours requested in the current application, however, the 
Applicant did not propose to routinely stay open until the hours requested but instead 
advised that they proposed to stay open until 11.00 p.m. on  Mondays to Wednesdays 
and Fridays. 
 
The applicant was then asked about her plans for the Club and she advised that they it 
was proposed to play music but not continuing late in the evening.  They planned to 
have exercise classes, children’s parties and charity events in the function room part of 
the Club which was why a licence for music was needed.  They also proposed to allow 
local bands to play and advised that they could install noise limiting equipment if 
needed. The applicant also said that she hoped to have teams and participate in the 
leagues for events such as cribbage, darts and pool, advising that most league 
meetings finished at 11.00 p.m. 
 
The applicant was then asked if there would be a responsible person on site when the 
Club was open and she advised that there would be.  The applicant said her husband 
was a personal licence holder.  The applicant also advised that the bar was fully self-
contained and that this was only open for Members of the Club to purchase alcohol, and 
would be supervised at all times.  The Club was run by a Committee and was a non-
profit making club.  She advised that the club would normally be closed by 11.00 p.m. 
but that she had asked for the extra hours in case they had an event which finished later 
in the evening.  The social club was in the front part of the building, with the back part of 
the hall being used for the various events but the application was for the whole of the 
premises to be licensed.  She advised that most Members would be using the Club 
during the daytime. 
 
The objectors were then invited to address the Sub-Committee and to ask  any 
questions of the Applicant. 
 
Scott Wilson, speaking for both himself and on behalf of Ms Mayer and Mr and Mrs 
Johnson said that the hours that the previous church operated had been on Friday 
lunchtimes and Sundays only and that the playgroup had used the hall between 9.00 
a.m. and 12.30 p.m. on weekdays. 
 
He advised that Harwich Connexions did not run bus services in the evenings and that 
he was concerned about people using mobility scooters. 
 

Page 12



 Premises / Personal Licences Sub-
Committee 
 

8 April 2022  

 

Mr Wilson asked what guarantees there would be regarding the installation of CCTV.  
He advised that there was also a dance school in that vicinity and that parking was a 
problem when this was being used.   
 
Mr Wilson advised of an incident on Mother’s Day this year when there had been an 
incident at the nearby Trafalgar Public House when the Police had been called  out 
because someone had blocked the road.  He was concerned about access for 
emergency services if the road was blocked with cars. 
 
Mr Wilson was further concerned about the operation of the premises, as during the 
recent storms a fence at the premises had been blown down and had blocked the 
entrance to the cemetery and that no-one from the club had dealt with this.  The 
applicant replied that they had not been the owners at that time and had in fact only 
recently bought the premises. 
 
Mr Wilson advised that he lived next door to the premises and that he was concerned 
about the noise as his daughter’s bedroom overlooked the premises.  He said he would 
like to see the whole of the premises land enclosed with fencing as people would be 
outside the premises drinking. 
 
Mr Wilson said that the premises were comprised of two buildings, a bar area and a 
community hall and he felt that there should be a responsible person on the premises at 
all times to ensure that members of the public using the community hall did not go into 
the bar area which was the members only area. 
 
The applicant confirmed in reply that the bar area would not be available to non-
members. 
 
Mrs Richardson, one of the objectors was then invited to address the Sub-Committee 
and to ask any questions of the applicants. 
 
Mrs Richardson stated that she lived on Main Road and that she was very concerned 
about the parking and potential noise from the premises.  She said that a large 
proportion of the time that the premises would be open it would be licensed for the sale 
of alcohol.  She said that the premises had been described as a resource for older 
people, for coffee mornings and lunch clubs and she said that there was already a 
community centre in the vicinity that provided those types of events, i.e. Long Meadows 
Community Centre. 
 
She was also concerned about the potential for overspill of car parking from the road 
outside the Club to Main Road and was therefore concerned about safety and visibility 
issues.  She felt that the late hours requested in the application were excessive.  She 
said that noise was reasonable during the day but not at night and she felt that most 
people using the Club would not walk there but would use their cars or taxi’s.  She was 
also concerned about access for emergency vehicles and pointed out that when 
brewery lorries were unloading at The Trafalgar Public House they already blocked the 
road so this would increase with similar alcohol deliveries to the Club. 
 
Mrs Richardson said that she had checked what a Club Premises Certificate was and it 
said that it was in relation to “premises that were occupied” and asked whether if the 

Page 13



 Premises / Personal Licences Sub-
Committee 
 

8 April 2022  

 

Sub-Committee granted the application today could the activities be changed in the 
future i.e. through Planning? 
 
The members of the Sub-Committee then asked further questions of the applicant. 
 
The applicant was asked whether a planning application had been submitted and were 
advised that it had. 
 
The members of the Sub-Committee then asked questions of the objectors, the 
Licensing Manager and the Applicant. 
 
The Licensing Manager advised that the definition of a Club Premises Certificate, was 
that the club had to be used regularly for club uses by Club Members and invited guests 
and only Club Members could purchase alcohol. 
 
The applicant advised that they had had an open day so that any objectors could see 
the premises and that only one person, Mr Richardson had visited. 
 
The applicant said that they would apply for Temporary Event Notices for special 
events.  She said that other Community Centres were expensive to hire and they 
wanted to support local people – it was a non-profit club and they would like to sponsor 
local teams such as darts teams and hold darts matches as part of the local leagues.  
The applicant was asked how that would work considering only Members could buy 
alcohol and she advised that the non-members could be signed in by a Member of the 
club. 
 
She advised that they had no intention of causing any problems in the area and that the 
Club had begun during the pandemic with Group Chats on-line and now had around 50 
members. 
 
The Sub-Committee, the Council’s Solicitor and the Legal and Governance 
Administration Officer then withdrew from the meeting in order for the Sub-Committee to 
consider the application and reach a decision. 
 
After a period of time, the Sub-Committee, the Council’s Solicitor and the Legal and 
Governance Administration Officer then returned to the meeting. 
 
The Chairman of the Sub-Committee then read out the following decision: 
 
“1. The Sub-Committee has given careful consideration to this application.  In 

reaching our decision, we have taken into account the views expressed by the 
Applicant, the representations received from residents, along with the Guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State and other matters set out in the Licensing 
Authority’s own Statement of Licensing Policy. 

 
2. The Sub-Committee does not agree to grant the application in full, having heard 

from the Applicant and the Objectors, it is clear there are concerns about noise 
that may emanate from the premises, together with the noise from people leaving 
those premises, taken together with the vehicular access in the surrounding roads, 
the coming and going of vehicles where access may be difficult and the noise of 
those vehicles. 

Page 14



 Premises / Personal Licences Sub-
Committee 
 

8 April 2022  

 

 
3. However, subject to paragraph 2 above, in addition to any mandatory conditions 

and any conditions that are consistent with the Operating Schedule the following 
conditions will apply, in order to satisfy the Licensing Objectives of the Protection 
of Children from Harm, the Prevention of Public Nuisance and the prevention of 
crime and disorder and the Sub-Committee has decided to grant this application 
as follows:- 

 
Performance of plays –    Mondays to Sundays – 10.00 to 23.00 

Exhibition of films –    Mondays to Sundays – 10.00 to 23.00 

Indoor sporting events –   Sundays to Thursdays – 10.00 – 23.00 

      Fridays and Saturdays – 10.00 – 00.00 

Performance of Live music –   Sundays to Thursdays – 10.00 – 23.00 

Fridays and Saturdays – 10.00 – 00.00 

Performance of recorded music –  Sundays to Thursdays – 10.00 – 2300 

Fridays and Saturdays – 10.00 – 00.00 

Performance of dance –   Sundays to Thursdays – 10.00 – 23.00 

Fridays and Saturdays – 10.00 – 00.00 

Provision of facilities for making music – Mondays to Saturdays 10.00 – 23.00 

        Sundays – 10.00 – 22.00 

Provision of facilities for dancing –  Mondays to Saturdays 10.00 – 23.00 

      Sundays – 10.00 to 22.00 

 Supply of alcohol on and off the premises – Sundays to Thursdays 10.00 – 23.00 

      Fridays and Saturdays 10.00 to 0000 

 
In addition the Sub-Committee have been pleased to learn that the applicants are 
prepared to have a responsible person on-site throughout all opening times. 
The Sub-committee have been pleased to note that throughout the course of this 
meeting the parties have shown a willingness to talk to each other, that is to be 
commended and it is hoped it will continue to the benefit of all parties. 
 
Finally, I must mention that all parties who are aggrieved at the decision of the Sub-
Committee have the right of appeal to the Magistrates' Court. 
 
This Decision was made today, 8 April 2022 and will be confirmed in writing to all 
parties. 
 
 
 
 
  

 The meeting was declared closed at 12.55 pm  
  

Page 15



 Premises / Personal Licences Sub-
Committee 
 

8 April 2022  

 

 
 

Chairman 
 

Page 16



__ 
PREMISES/PERSONAL LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE 

 
10 MARCH 2023 

 
REPORT OF ASSISTANT DIRECTOR (GOVERNANCE & LEGAL) 

 
A.1 APPLICATION FOR THE GRANT OF PERMISSION TO SHOW UNCLASSIFIED 

FILM 
 
 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
To determine a request for the licence holder to show to the public a number of short films that 
has not been classified by the British Board of Film Classification.  
 
The request to show the short films has been made by Michael Offord of Electric Palace 
Harwich. The films would be shown at the Electric Palace Harwich towards the end of March 
2023. 
 
SUMMARY  
 
The Electric Palace Harwich gives the opportunity to local film makers to show their films to the 
public by holding The Harwich Short Film Festival.  The Electric Palace Harwich want to 
support local and regional talent and, as an exhibitor of films, the best way they feel this can be 
achieved is to provide an opportunity for Essex based creatives to show their films to new 
audiences. However, one of the major difficulties facing short film makers is the cost of 
obtaining BBFC classification.   
 
The films submitted by The Electric Palace Harwich have been arranged by two separate 
organisations, namely Short Film Festival and The Essex Film Collective. 
 
The short film circuit is how most up and coming filmmakers cut their teeth in the industry and 
is a hot bed for emerging talent. However most short films are entirely self-funded, difficult to 
screen and rarely generate income. 
 
The Essex Film Collective is a network of Essex based professionals who work across all 
areas of film and TV. They provide support and opportunities for film makers in Essex and to 
help people connect within the county. They aim to help grow Essex’s reputation as a thriving 
hub for independent Film and TV.  The films submitted by the Essex Film Collective are 
designed to showcase the breadth of talent currently at work within our county and include 
films submitted by at least one Tendring based film maker. 

 
By assisting the cinema in providing this classification service at a cost neutral fee, the Council 
through its Premises / Personal Sub-Committee is helping to promote and support the town, 
the District, the local tourist, leisure industries, and the work of local independent filmmakers. 
In addition, the Electric Palace Harwich is a special venue locally and provides for a diverse 
range of film and entertainment that is not always catered for by mainstream venues and which 
attracts and brings visitors into Harwich as a result. The theatre is therefore always an 
important destination and venue for Tendring’s tourist and leisure industry. 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



 
SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
Mr Offord and the individual film producers have not requested the films to be classified by the 
British Board of Film Classification (BBFC) as the cost would make the project impossible.  To 
classify a film for theatrical showing with the BBFC would cost over £1,000.  
 
As the films which Mr Offord wishes to screen do not have the benefit of a certificate, the 
consent of the Council is required before the films can be shown.  
 
The public exhibition of films upon licensed premises must either be classified by  the British 
Board of Film Classification or authorised by the Licensing Authority under the powers of the 
Licensing Act 2003. 
 
Should the Premises / Personal Sub-Committee be minded to recommend the granting for the 
films to the Assistant Director (Governance), then it may wish to suggest a suitable 
classification. To assist Members, the British Board of Film Classification [BBFC] Guidelines 
are attached at Appendix A. 
 
Mr Offord has informed the Licensing Authority that some of the content in the films include 
Strong Adult themes – for example nudity, swearing, self-harm, drug misuse and murder. They  
are clearly not all suitable for younger audiences.  
 
Mr Offord confirmed that as a cinema, enforcing the application of these restrictions is  
something that they undertake on a weekly basis. All of their staff and volunteers are  
appropriately trained and experienced in ensuring that only those that are old enough, are  
admitted to the screenings. Mr Offord has included a copy of the cinema safeguarding policy  
for information. Appendix B  

 
The Licensing Act 2003 deals with the exhibition of films as regulated entertainment. There  
is a mandatory condition imposed on all licences that permit the exhibition of films, which  
requires that the recommendations of the British Board of Film classification (BBFC) are  
followed in respect of the admission of children. However, the licensing authority may give  
permission for a film that is not classified by the BBFC to be shown, provided the authority’s  
own requirements are followed by the licence holder. 

 
To ensure that the films are not available to the public for viewing until such time that 
the classifications have been approved; arrangements have been made for Members to  
view the films prior to the Premises / Personal Sub-Committee Meeting on 10 March 2023. 

 
A summary of each of the films is attached at Appendix C.  A member of the Licensing Team  
has viewed the films and confirms that the synopsis for each film is accurate.  It is of the  
opinion of the Licensing Team Member that the films should be classified as listed in the  
Appendix. These suggestions have been made in accordance with the BBFC guidelines. 

 
The BBFC is an independent body that classifies films, trailers and advertisements on behalf  
of local authorities who license cinemas. Its guidelines set out the classification categories,  
including the factors that determine which classification a film may be given. These  
guidelines are attached to the report for information. 
 
Policy Guidelines Paragraphs 6.8, 6.9 and 6.10 of Tendring District Council’s statement of 
licensing policy relates to Film Exhibitions and the promotion of the protection of children from 

Page 18



harm.  See Appendix D 
 

 
 
FINANCE, OTHER RESOURCES AND RISK 
Officers have taken into consideration the various costs to cover the work that is involved in 
dealing with this application including the production and printing of the covering Sub-
Committee report and have invoiced Mr Offord £315 which is considered a fair, reasonable and 
proportionate amount that will enable the Licensing Service to recover its costs for the work 
that it has done on a cost neutral basis and is in accordance with the provisions made under 
Section 3 of the Localism Act 2011. 
 
 
COUNCIL’S ADOPTED GUIDELINES AND LEGISLATION 
 
The application to Granting Permission to show Unclassified Films at Electric Palace Harwich 
was seeking to rely on Home Office Circular 98/1982 and Section 1(2) of the Cinemas Act 
1985 (in addition to Section 20 of the Licensing Act 2003).   
 
Unfortunately, the Licensing Team has not been able to locate the circular as the National 
Office has archived this.  However, the 1985 Act was repealed by the Licensing Act 2003 in 
respect of England and Wales and therefore, is only in force for Scotland. 
 
The public exhibition of films upon licensed premises must either be classified by  the British 
Board of Film Classification or authorised by the Licensing Authority under the powers of the 
Licensing Act 2003. 
 
Paragraph 2(1)(b) of Schedule 1 of the Licensing Act 2003 defines the exhibition of a film as 
the provision of entertainment regulated in accordance with the Act. 
 
Section 20(3) of the Licensing Act 2003 requires that: 
 Where— 

 (a) the film classification body is not specified in the licence, or 

 (b) the relevant licensing authority has notified the holder of the licence that this  
  subsection applies to the film in question, 

admission of children must be restricted in accordance with any recommendation made by that 
licensing authority. 
Therefore, the admission of children to the public screening of material unclassified by the 
British Board of Film Classification is subject to authorisation by the licensing authority in 
accordance with the powers of the Licensing Act 2003. 
 
When considering whether to authorise the exhibition, the Premises / Personal Sub-Committee 
should have regard to the Licensing Act 2003 objectives, which are:  
 

 The prevention of crime and disorder; 
 Public safety; 
 The prevention of public nuisance; and  

Page 19



 The protection of children from harm. 
 

The most relevant licensing objective in respect of the exhibition of films is the protection of 
children from harm. 
 
In carrying out its Licensing functions, the licensing authority when authorising film(s) shall at 
all times take into account the Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003. 
See Appendix E.  The parts of the Guidance of particular relevance to this application are:  
 

 2.30 The protection of children from harm  
 10.17 Censorship 
 10.59 and 10.60 Exhibition of films. 
 14.62 Children and Cinemas 

 
It is recommended that the Sub-Committee use ‘The British Board of Film Classification 
Guidelines’ as a reference point for its considerations concerning the access of children to the 
film(s). In particular, the ‘General Classifications Considerations’ section of this Guidance may 
be helpful to the Sub-Committee.  
 
The Licensing Authority may impose conditions and specific restrictions upon an authorisation 
where deemed necessary to comply with the licensing objectives. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION(S) 
The Sub-Committee is requested to: 
 

a) In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, recommend to the Assistant Director 
(Governance) the screening of an unclassified film subject to Council officers viewing 
the film and imposing an appropriate age restriction, if any, having regard to the 
British Board of Film Classification guidelines; 

 OR 
 b) refuse permission to screen an unclassified film. 
 
Whilst there is a general provision for appeals in relation to the conditions placed on Cinema  
Licences, there is no right of appeal in respect of this decision. 
 
 

Page 20



 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix A - BBFC Guidelines 
Appendix B - Electric Palace Safeguarding Policy 
Appendix C - Film Summaries 
Appendix D - Extracts of the Licensing Act 2003 Policy  
Appendix E - Extracts of the S.182 Guidance 
 
 
REPORT CONTACT OFFICER(S) 
Name 
 

Michael Cook & Emma King 
 

Job Title Licensing Manager & Licensing Officer 

Email/Telephone 
 

licensingsection@tendringdc.gov.uk 
01255 686565 

Page 21

mailto:licensingsection@tendringdc.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Classification Guidelines

Page 23



2 3

Introduction

Guiding principles

General classification considerations

Specific classification considerations

Other matters

The classification categories

	U

	PG

	  12A/12

4

7

8

10

14

16

18

20

22

24

26

28

31

32

34

36

	  15

	  18

	 R18

Intervention

Engagement with the public

Appeals, advice viewings and feedback

Annexe – legal considerations

 Contents

Contents

P
age 24



4 5

We classify:
●	�films, trailers and advertisements on behalf of 

local authorities who license cinemas under the 
Licensing Act 20031

●	�video works distributed on physical media under 
the Video Recordings Act 1984 

●	�video works which are distributed over the 
internet under a voluntary, self-regulatory service

●	�commercial and internet content distributed  
via mobile networks under a voluntary, self-
regulatory service

Our Classification Guidelines follow an extensive 
public consultation to which more than 10,000 
people contribute across the UK, as well as other 
research, expert advice and our accumulated 
experience over many years. The Guidelines, and 
our practice in applying them, pay particular 
attention to changes in public taste, attitudes and 
concerns, and changes in the law. They also 
take account of new evidence from research and 
expert sources. The Guidelines are reviewed 
every four to five years, and how we apply them 
is reviewed when necessary. 

 1Since 31 March 2016 the BBFC has sub-contracted the assessment of 
cinema advertisements for commercial goods and services to the Cinema 
Advertising Association, while retaining responsibility for classifying  
all feature films, trailers, public information films and charity campaigns.

The British Board of Film Classification (BBFC) is  
an independent, non-governmental, not-for-profit,  
co-regulatory body. Our classification function is  
funded through fees charged to those who submit  
films and video works for classification. 

We take responsibility for the Guidelines and for 
their interpretation. This responsibility is subject 
to the normal considerations of fairness and 
reasonableness.

Here, and throughout the Guidelines, video 
works are taken to include films and programmes 
released on DVD or Blu-ray, or distributed by 
means of download or streaming on the internet.

The Guidelines cannot be a comprehensive 
account of everything that may at any time be  
of concern. If issues arise which are not 
specifically covered here, they will be dealt with 
by us on their merits and in line with the 
standards expressed and implied in these 
Guidelines. The Guidelines are not a legal 
document and should be interpreted in the spirit 
of what is intended as well as in the letter. 

We will provide guidance on the interpretation  
of these Guidelines on request and their 
application to particular films.

Shaped by you.
Every 4-5 years, we speak to over 10,000 

people across the UK to ensure that the  
BBFC Classification Guidelines reflect what 

viewers want and expect.

P
age 25



6 7

We fulfil these roles chiefly by providing age 
classifications and publishing advice (known as 
ratings info) for individual films and videos. 
Ratings info gives a detailed breakdown of the 
issues that result in a particular classification,  
as well as other issues likely to be of relevance 
to viewers.

Our extensive research into public opinion 
guides us as we seek to ensure that classification 
decisions generally reflect public sensibilities 
and expectations as these change over time. We 
seek to ensure that films and videos reach the 
widest audience that is appropriate for their theme 
and treatment.

While media effects research and expert  
opinion can provide valuable insights, it can be 
inconclusive or contradictory on issues of 
suitability and harm. In such cases we must rely 
on our own experience and expertise to make  
a judgement as to the suitability of a work for 
classification at a particular age category, taking 
into consideration whether the availability of  
the material, to the age group concerned, is clearly 
unacceptable to broad public opinion.

We do this without infringing the right of adults 
to choose what they view provided that it remains 
within the law and is not potentially harmful. 

In relation to harm, we will consider whether the 
material, either on its own, or in combination with 
other content of a similar nature, may cause any 
harm at the category concerned. This includes not 
just any harm that may result from the behaviour 
of potential viewers, but also any moral or societal 
harm that may be caused by, for example, 
desensitising a potential viewer to the effects of 
violence, degrading a potential viewer’s sense  
of empathy, encouraging a dehumanised view of 
others, encouraging anti-social attitudes, 
reinforcing unhealthy fantasies, or eroding a sense 
of moral responsibility. Especially with regard to 
children, harm may also include impairing social 
and moral development, distorting a viewer’s 
sense of right and wrong, and limiting their 
capacity for compassion.

We will not classify material which is in conflict 
with the criminal law, and we will have regard to 
whether the material has arisen from the 
commission of an unlawful act. 

We act as a regulator across the United Kingdom. 
However, the UK does not have a single legal 
system, and so we take account of the different 
legal systems that coexist in the UK. Further 
details about the applicable legislation can be 
found in the Annexe – legal considerations.

Our guiding principles are: 

●	�to protect children and vulnerable adults from potentially harmful or  
otherwise unsuitable media content

●	�to empower consumers, particularly parents and those with responsibility  
for children, to make informed viewing decisions

Guiding principles

P
age 26



8

Context
We consider the context in which an issue (such 
as sex, language or violence) is presented within 
a film or video. In doing this we take account  
of factors such as the setting of a work (historical, 
fantasy, realistic, contemporary); the manner  
of presentation (for example, an aggressive and 
directed use of bad or discriminatory language 
may result in a higher classification than a 
light-hearted and self-referential use of the same 
term); the apparent intention of the film; the 
original production date of the work (for example, 
outdated attitudes might be considered less 
offensive, and consequently classified at a lower 
category, in an old, obviously dated, work);  
the expectations of the likely audience; and any 
special merits of the work. 

Theme
Classification decisions will take into account the 
theme of a work, but will depend significantly  
on the treatment of that theme, and especially 
the sensitivity of its presentation. The most 
challenging themes (for example, sexual violence, 
paedophilia and suicide) are unlikely to be 
appropriate at the lowest levels of classification 
(U or PG). However, there is no reason in principle 
why most themes, however difficult, could not be 
presented in a manner which allows classification 
at 18 or even, where suitable, at lower levels. 
Classification decisions are likely to be less 
restrictive where difficult themes are handled in 
a reassuring and age appropriate manner, or 
where there is a positive outcome. Classification 
decisions are likely to be more restrictive where 
difficult themes are handled in a manner likely to 
create or reinforce anxiety.

There are general factors 
that may influence a 
classification decision 
at any level and in 
connection with any 
issue. These factors are 
of particular importance 
when a work lies on  
the borderline between 
two age categories. 

General classification  
considerations

Tone and impact
The overall tone of a work may also affect the 
classification decision. While the presentation of 
specific issues, such as sex and violence, may 
not be problematic at a particular category, a work 
with a dark or unsettling tone may receive a 
higher classification. Other tonal considerations 
which might have an influence on classification 
include the extent to which the work presents  
a despairing view of the world, or the extent to 
which transgressive or harmful behaviour is 
condoned or made to appear normal. 

We take into account the impact of a work (i.e. 
how it makes the audience feel), for example  
the presentation of credible real world scenarios 
about which viewers, especially younger 
viewers, are likely to be anxious (e.g. terrorism, 
abduction, suicide, self-harm). We also take 
account of audience expectations regarding 
genre, for example in relation to horror films 
where threat may be more significant than the 
level of violence, or in the case of action  
films, where viewers are likely to have certain 
expectations regarding the type of highly 
choreographed and unrealistic violence they are 
likely to contain.

Where multiple classification issues are present 
in the same work, this may produce a cumulative 
impact that makes a higher classification more 
appropriate.

P
age 27



10 11

Specific classification  
considerations

Dangerous behaviour
Classification decisions will take into account 
any detailed portrayal of criminal and violent 
techniques, and glamorisation of easily accessible 
weapons, such as knives. Works which portray 
anti-social behaviour (for example, bullying) 
uncritically are likely to receive a higher 
classification. Works which, taken as a whole, 
actively promote illegal behaviour may be cut  
or refused a classification. 

Portrayals of potentially dangerous behaviour 
(especially relating to suicide, self-harm and 
asphyxiation) which children and young people 
may potentially copy, will be cut if a higher 
classification is not appropriate. The relative ease 
and likelihood of imitation are also considered.

Classification decisions may be less restrictive 
where the risks of any dangerous behaviour are 
likely to be obvious to the intended audience,  
or where material is intended to educate younger 
viewers about dangers. Classification decisions 
will be more restrictive where novel information  
is presented (for example, about specific suicide 
techniques), where harmful behaviour is 
glamorised, or where risks are not made clear.

Drugs
No work taken as a whole may promote the 
misuse of drugs and any detailed portrayal of drug 
misuse likely to promote the activity may be cut. 
Works which normalise or glamorise drug misuse 
are likely to receive a higher classification than 
works which show drug misuse while emphasising 
the dangers. 

Where smoking, alcohol abuse or substance 
misuse feature to a significant extent in works 
which appeal to children, this will normally be 
indicated in ratings info. Classification decisions 
will also take into account any promotion or 
glamorisation of such activities.

Language
Language which people may find offensive 
includes the use of expletives with a sexual, 
religious or racial association, derogatory 
language about minority groups and commonly 
understood rude gestures. The extent of  
offence may vary according to age, gender, race, 
background, beliefs and expectations brought  
by viewers to the work as well as the context in 
which the word, expression or gesture is used. 

Discrimination 
Potentially offensive content relating to matters 
such as race, gender, religion, disability or 
sexuality may arise in a wide range of works, and 
the classification decision will take account of the 
strength or impact of their inclusion. The context 
in which such content may appear also has a 
bearing. Works with such content may receive a 
lower category where discriminatory language 
and behaviour is implicitly or explicitly criticised; 
or the work has a historical setting within which 
outdated attitudes or outmoded expressions 
would be expected; or the work is obviously dated, 
with little or no appeal to children; or the work 
seeks to challenge discriminatory attitudes and 
assumptions. Works with such content may 
receive a higher category where discriminatory 
language and behaviour is accompanied by 
threat or violence; or where there is a clear power 
imbalance; or where such behaviour is left 
unchallenged; or where discriminatory attitudes 
and assumptions are normalised. Where 
discriminatory language or behaviour occurs,  
this will normally be indicated in ratings info.

For these reasons, it is impossible to set out 
comprehensive lists of words, expressions or 
gestures which are acceptable at each  
category. The advice at different classification 
levels, therefore, provides general guidance 
taking account of the views expressed in public 
consultation exercises.

Nudity
Nudity with no sexual context is in principle 
acceptable at all classification levels, but will not 
generally occur more than occasionally at U. 

Nudity with a sexual context will receive a higher 
classification. Where the principal purpose of 
depicting nudity is to sexually arouse it will usually 
only be passed at the adult categories (18 or R18).

This section of the 
Guidelines identifies 
concerns which  
apply, to a greater or a 
lesser degree, at all 
classification levels, and 
sets out the general 
approach that we take. 
The concerns are listed 
in alphabetical order.

Pages 18 to 28 of the 
Guidelines provide 
specific guidance for U 
through to R18 with 
regard to such concerns. 
This should be read 
together with the 
General classification 
considerations.

P
age 28



12 13

Sex
The portrayal of sexual activity can range from 
kissing to detail of unsimulated sex. The 
normalisation of overtly sexualised behaviour  
is a concern at the junior categories (U, PG  
and 12A/12). The classification system allows 
progressively stronger portrayals of sexual 
behaviour as the categories rise.

Sex works (works whose primary purpose is 
sexual arousal or stimulation) will only be passed 
at 18 or R18. 

We will apply these Guidelines in relation to  
sex to the same standard regardless of sexual 
orientation of the activity portrayed.

Sexual violence and sexual threat
Depictions of the stronger forms of sexual 
violence, including rape, are not permitted at  
the junior categories. 

When considering scenes of sexual violence, 
aggravating factors include:

●	�the presence of a gang dynamic (e.g. a ‘gang 
rape’ scene)

●	�a focus on the victim being overpowered  
or powerless

●	�prolonged, detailed or gratuitous depiction 

●	�an emphasis on nudity

●	�an emphasis on the pleasure of the attacker 

Threat and horror
Where films are targeted at a younger audience, 
classification decisions will take into account 
factors such as the frequency, length and detail 
of scary or otherwise unsettling scenes as  
well as factors such as the impact of music and 
sound, and whether there is a swift and 
reassuring outcome.

The classification of threat and horror will take 
account of the general tone, impact, realism  
and supernatural elements of a work as well as 
the level of detail in individual scenes. Fantasy 
settings or the inclusion of humour may be 
mitigating factors. The presentation of ‘real world’ 
issues and fears may be an aggravating factor. 

Violence
Classification decisions will take account of the 
degree and nature of violence in a work. 

Works which feature the following are likely to 
receive a more restrictive classification: 

●	�portrayal of violence as a normal solution  
to problems

●	�heroes who inflict pain and injury 

●	�callousness towards victims

●	�the encouragement of aggressive attitudes

●	�characters taking pleasure in pain or humiliation

●	�the glorification or glamorisation of violence

●	�gratuitous violence

●	�violence presented in a credible and realistic 
context (e.g. gang violence, domestic violence)

●	�a strong emphasis on the distress and fear  
of the victim

●	�a credible ‘real world’ setting 

●	�a protracted build-up of sexual threat

Mitigating factors include: 

●	�brevity and lack of detail 

●	�a clear educational message aimed at  
young people 

●	�a strong narrative justification

We may refuse to classify content which makes 
rape or other non-consensual sexually  
violent behaviour look appealing or acceptable, 
reinforces the suggestion that victims enjoy  
such behaviour, or invites viewer complicity in 
such behaviour.

References to sexual violence are likely to be 
treated less restrictively than depictions of sexual 
violence, although any references at the junior 
categories will generally be oblique or undetailed. 

Sexual threat and abusive behaviour are not 
permitted at the lowest levels of classification and 
will only be permitted at 12A/12 if brief and 
negatively presented. 

Works which feature the following are likely  
to be treated less restrictively:

●	�violence in a historical context

●	�violence in an action or fantasy context

●	�violence that lacks detail

●	�violence that looks unreal, fake or overly staged

●	comic violence

●	�violence that is challenged or punished

●	�violence in a context where it is likely to be 
expected by the intended audience

We are unlikely to classify content which is so 
demeaning or degrading to human dignity (for 
example, it consists of strong abuse, torture  
or death without any significant mitigating factors) 
that it may pose a harm risk.

Specific classification considerations continued

P
age 29



14 15

Education videos
When classifying an education video, including  
a sex education video, for use in schools, we will 
take account of the educational purpose of the 
video and the context in which it is to be viewed 
(for example in the classroom mediated by  
a teacher).

Music videos
In addition to the usual issues, the classification 
of a music video will take account of any elements 
which are of particular concern to parents, 
including glamorisation of behaviour which they 
consider inappropriate such as drug misuse  
or sexualised behaviour. Where music videos are 
short and self-contained, material may be less 
likely to be justified by context.

Photo or pattern sensitivity, motion sickness 
and reactions to low frequency sound
A small number of viewers are sensitive to 
flashing and flickering light, or some shapes and 
patterns, and may experience seizures or other 
serious physical effects. Some viewers experience 
feelings of motion sickness or other symptoms 
when viewing works which feature hand held or 
otherwise moving camerawork, or which feature 
very low frequency sounds. 

It is the responsibility of film makers and 
distributors to identify works in which such 
issues arise and to ensure that, when required, 
appropriate warnings are given to viewers. 
However, if it is obvious during viewing that the 
work contains strong examples of such imagery 

If the title of a work is likely to cause significant 
offence to a significant number of people if 
displayed in a public place, we will advise the 
distributor to consider carefully the places in 
which it is likely to be seen and to take appropriate 
action, for example, by obscuring certain words 
on packaging or marketing materials. (This advice 
is not given in relation to video works classified 
R18 as such works may only be supplied or offered 
for supply in a licensed sex shop.)

Trailers and advertisements
Audiences may choose to see a full-length 
feature based on expectations of the particular 
genre at the given classification and on the 
published ratings info. In contrast, audiences 
have no choice, and often no expectation, about 
the accompanying trailers or advertisements 
which may be very different in tone and content 
to the film the audience has chosen to view.  
In addition, because trailers and advertisements 
are short and self-contained, material is less 
likely to be justified by context and more likely  
to cause offence.

For these reasons, classification decisions for 
trailers and advertisements may be more 
restrictive than for equivalent material in a main 
feature. Strong language will not be allowed in 
trailers at the U, PG and 12A/12 categories. Strong 
language may be permitted in trailers at 15, 
unless significantly aggravated by other factors. 
Infrequent very strong language may be permitted 
in trailers at 15 but usually only where there  
are mitigating factors such as a comic context.

The more restrictive approach set out above 
may be relaxed where an advertisement is part 
of a public information campaign or has a 
charitable purpose. 

Cinemas are responsible for the exhibition of 
cinema trailers and advertisements, and we  
have no involvement in deciding which films they 
precede. Questions or complaints about the 
exhibition of trailers or advertisements should 
be directed to the cinema management in the 
first instance.

Video games 
With a few limited exceptions we do not classify 
video games. We consider for classification 
those video games contained on discs which 
feature primarily linear video content and any 
pornographic video games. 

We also advise the video games authority on  
the classification of linear video footage contained  
in games which is not integral to the game.  
This includes, for example, rewards and video 
content in games which is designed to be 
viewed in its own right, without taking forward 
the narrative drive of the game.

Virtual reality 
The BBFC is responsible for classifying linear  
VR (virtual reality) content whereas the video  
games authority is responsible for classifying 
non-linear VR content.

Other matters

or sounds, we will advise the distributor of the 
need to ensure that appropriate warnings are in 
place. Where necessary, we may require 
assurances regarding the display of appropriate 
warnings as a condition of classification. 

Release format
Classification decisions may be stricter on  
video works than on film. This is because of the 
increased possibility of under-age viewing  
as recognised in the Video Recordings Act (see 
Annexe), as well as the increased possibility of 
works being replayed or sections viewed out of 
context. Accordingly, a video work (either 
packaged or online) may occasionally receive a 
higher classification than on film, or require new 
or different cuts. (Video works may also receive 
a higher classification because they contain 
additional content.) 

The screen format or visual presentation of  
a submission may also alter a classification, for 
example, if the image has been processed in  
the 3D format, or is shown with an altered aspect 
ratio such as on an IMAX screen, or if the work  
is experienced as a piece of immersive linear VR 
(virtual reality).

Titles
We will require changes as a condition of 
classification if the title of a work incites racial or 
religious hatred, or other criminal behaviour,  
or encourages an interest in abusive or illegal 
sexual activity. 

P
age 30



16 17

The classification categories
We endeavour to classify submitted works in one of the following categories:

The following pages set out guidance on how the specific 
classification considerations (for example, sex and violence) are 
applied from U through to R18. The criteria should be read  
in combination with the general approach set out earlier under 
 ‘Guiding principles’, ‘General classification considerations’  
and ‘Specific classification considerations’. 

Because works from time to time present issues in ways which 
cannot be anticipated, these criteria will not be applied in  
an over-literal way if such an interpretation would lead to an 
outcome which would confound audience expectations.

P
age 31



1918

A U film should be suitable for audiences aged four years and over, 
although it is impossible to predict what might upset any particular  
child. U films should be set within a positive framework and should offer 
reassuring counterbalances to any violence, threat or horror.

Dangerous behaviour
Potentially dangerous or anti-social behaviour 
which young children may copy must  
be clearly disapproved of or be presented 
unrealistically. No emphasis on realistic  
or easily accessible weapons. 

Discrimination
Discriminatory language or behaviour is unlikely 
to be acceptable unless clearly disapproved of. 

Drugs
References to illegal drugs or drug misuse must 
be infrequent and innocuous, or have a clear 
educational purpose or anti-drug message suitable 
for young children.
 
Language
Infrequent use only of very mild bad language.

Nudity
Occasional nudity, with no sexual context.

Sex
Only very mild sexual behaviour (for example, 
kissing) and references to such behaviour. 

Threat and horror
Scary or potentially unsettling sequences should 
be mild, brief and unlikely to cause undue 
anxiety to young children. The outcome should 
be reassuring.

Violence
Violence will generally be very mild. Mild violence 
may be acceptable if it is justified by context (for 
example, comedic, animated, wholly unrealistic). 

Universal
Suitable for all

P
age 32



2120

A PG film should not unsettle a child aged around eight or older. 
Unaccompanied children of any age may watch, but parents  
are advised to consider whether the content may upset younger  
or more sensitive children. 

Dangerous behaviour
No detail of potentially dangerous behaviour which 
young children are likely to copy, if that behaviour 
is presented as safe or fun. No glamorisation  
of realistic or easily accessible weapons such as 
knives. No focus on anti-social behaviour which 
young children are likely to copy.

Discrimination
Discriminatory language or behaviour is unlikely 
to be acceptable unless clearly disapproved  
of, or in an educational or historical context, or  
in a particularly dated work with no likely appeal 
to children. Discrimination by a character with 
whom children can readily identify is unlikely to 
be acceptable. 

Drugs
References to illegal drugs or drug misuse must be 
innocuous or carry a suitable anti-drug message.

Language
Mild bad language only. Aggressive or very 
frequent use of mild bad language may result in 
a work being passed at a higher category.

Nudity
There may be nudity with no sexual context.

Sex
Sexual activity may be implied, but should be 
discreet and infrequent. Mild sex references and 
innuendo only.

Threat and horror
Frightening sequences or situations where 
characters are in danger should not be prolonged 
or intense. Fantasy settings and comedy may  
be mitigating factors.

Violence
Violence will usually be mild. However, there 
may be moderate violence, without detail,  
if justified by its context (for example, history, 
comedy or fantasy).

Parental Guidance
General viewing, but some scenes may  
be unsuitable for young children

P
age 33



2322

Films classified 12A and video works classified 12 contain material that  
is not generally suitable for children aged under 12. 

No one younger than 12 may see a 12A film in a cinema unless 
accompanied by an adult. Adults planning to take a child under 12 to view 
a 12A film should consider whether the film is suitable for that child.  
To help them decide, we recommend that they check the ratings info for 
that film in advance.

No one younger than 12 may rent or buy a 12 rated video work.

Dangerous behaviour
No promotion of potentially dangerous behaviour 
which children are likely to copy. No glamorisation 
of realistic or easily accessible weapons such as 
knives. No endorsement of anti-social behaviour.

Discrimination
Discriminatory language or behaviour must not be 
endorsed by the work as a whole. Aggressive 
discriminatory language or behaviour is unlikely 
to be acceptable unless clearly condemned. 

Drugs
Misuse of drugs must be infrequent and should 
not be glamorised or give detailed instruction. 

Language
There may be moderate bad language. Strong 
language may be permitted, depending on the 
manner in which it is used, who is using the 
language, its frequency within the work as a whole 
and any special contextual justification.

Nudity
There may be nudity, but in a sexual context it 
must be brief and discreet.

Sex
Sexual activity may be briefly and discreetly 
portrayed. Moderate sex references are permitted, 
but frequent crude references are unlikely to  
be acceptable.

Sexual violence and sexual threat
There may be verbal references to sexual violence 
provided they are not graphic. The stronger forms 
of sexual violence, including rape, may only be 
implied and any sexual threat or abusive behaviour 
must be brief and negatively presented. 

Threat and horror
There may be moderate physical and psychological 
threat and horror sequences. Although some 
scenes may be disturbing, the overall tone should 
not be. Horror sequences should not be frequent 
or sustained.

Violence
There may be moderate violence but it should not 
dwell on detail. There should be no emphasis  
on injuries or blood, but occasional gory moments 
may be permitted if justified by the context.

12A/12
Suitable for 12 years and over

P
age 34



2524

No one younger than 15 may see a 15 film in a cinema.
No one younger than 15 may rent or buy a 15 rated video work.

Nudity
There are no constraints on nudity in a non-sexual 
or educational context. Sexual nudity may be 
permitted but strong detail is likely to be brief or 
presented in a comic context. 

Sex
Sexual activity may be portrayed, but usually 
without strong detail. There may be strong 
verbal references to sexual behaviour. Repeated 
very strong references, particularly those  
using pornographic language, are unlikely to be 
acceptable. Works whose primary purpose is 
sexual arousal are unacceptable. 

Sexual violence and sexual threat
There may be strong verbal references to sexual 
violence but any depiction of the stronger forms 
of sexual violence, including rape, must not  
be detailed or prolonged. A strong and sustained 
focus on sexual threat is unacceptable.

Threat and horror
There may be strong threat and horror. A sustained 
focus on sadistic threat is unlikely to be acceptable. 

Violence
Violence may be strong but should not dwell on 
the infliction of pain or injury. The strongest gory 
images are unlikely to be acceptable. Strong 
sadistic violence is also unlikely to be acceptable. 

Dangerous behaviour
Dangerous behaviour (for example, suicide, 
self-harming and asphyxiation) should not  
dwell on detail which could be copied. Whether 
the depiction of easily accessible weapons is 
acceptable will depend on factors such as realism, 
context and setting.

Discrimination
The work as a whole must not endorse 
discriminatory language or behaviour, although 
there may be racist, homophobic or other 
discriminatory themes and language. 

Drugs
Drug taking may be shown but the work as a 
whole must not promote or encourage drug 
misuse (for example, through detailed instruction). 
The misuse of easily accessible and highly 
dangerous substances (for example, aerosols  
or solvents) is unlikely to be acceptable.

Language
There may be strong language. Very strong 
language may be permitted, depending on  
the manner in which it is used, who is using the 
language, its frequency within the work as a 
whole and any special contextual justification.

15
Suitable only for 15 years and over

P
age 35



2726

No one younger than 18 may see an 18 film in a cinema.
No one younger than 18 may rent or buy an 18 rated video work.

Sex works at 18
Sex works are works whose primary purpose is 
sexual arousal or stimulation. Sex works containing 
only material which may be simulated are 
generally passed 18. Sex works containing clear 
images of real sex, strong fetish material, sexually 
explicit animated images, or other very strong 
sexual images will be confined to the R18 category. 
Material which is unacceptable in a sex work  
at R18 is also unacceptable in a sex work at 18.

Adults should be free to choose their own 
entertainment. Exceptions are most likely in the 
following areas:

●	�where the material is in breach of the criminal 
law, or has been created through the commission 
of a criminal offence

●	�where material or treatment appears to us to risk 
harm to individuals or, through their behaviour, 
to society. For example, the detailed portrayal of 
violent or dangerous acts, or of illegal drug use, 
which may cause harm to public health or morals. 
This may include portrayals of sadistic violence, 
rape or other non-consensual sexually violent 
behaviour which make this violence look 
appealing; reinforce the suggestion that victims 
enjoy rape or other non-consensual sexually 
violent behaviour; or which invite viewer complicity 
in rape, other non-consensual sexually violent 
behaviour or other harmful violent activities

●	�where there are more explicit images of sexual 
activity in the context of a sex work (see right)

In the case of video works, which may be more 
accessible to younger viewers, intervention may 
be more frequent than for cinema films. 

18
Suitable only for adults

P
age 36



2928

R18
To be shown only in specially licensed cinemas, or  
supplied only in licensed sex shops, and to adults only

The R18 category is a special and legally-restricted classification primarily 
for explicit works of consenting sex or strong fetish material involving 
adults. Films may only be shown to adults in specially licensed cinemas, 
and video works may be supplied to adults only in licensed sex shops. 
R18 video works may not be supplied by mail order. 

The following content is not acceptable:

●	�material which is in breach of the criminal law, 
including material judged to be obscene  
under the current interpretation of the Obscene 
Publications Act 1959 (see Annexe – legal 
considerations)

●	�material (including dialogue) likely to encourage 
an interest in sexually abusive activity which  
may include adults role-playing as non-adults

●	�the portrayal of sexual activity which involves 
real or apparent lack of consent. Any form  
of physical restraint which prevents participants 
from indicating a withdrawal of consent

●	�the infliction of pain or acts which are likely to 
cause serious physical harm, whether real or (in 
a sexual context) simulated. Some allowance 
may be made for non-abusive, consensual activity

●	�penetration by any object likely to cause 
physical harm

●	�sexual threats, humiliation or abuse which  
do not form part of a clearly consenting  
role-playing game

P
age 37



31

●	�graphic images of real injury, violence or death 
presented in a salacious or sensationalist 
manner which risks harm by encouraging callous 
or sadistic attitudes

●	�material which reinforces the suggestion that 
victims enjoy rape or other non-consensual 
sexually violent behaviour

●	�material which invites viewer complicity in rape, 
other non-consensual sexually violent behaviour, 
or other harmful violent activities

●	�sex works which contain material listed as 
unacceptable at R18

When the issue relates to the circumstances of 
filming (for example, in relation to animal cruelty or 
public indecency) the customer will normally be 
given an opportunity to present evidence before 
a final decision is reached. 

Refusal to classify
As a last resort, the BBFC may refuse to classify  
a work, in line with the objective of preventing 
non-trivial harm risks to potential viewers and, 
through their behaviour, to society. We may do so, 
for example, where a central concept of the work 
is unacceptable, such as a sustained focus on rape, 
other non-consensual sexually violent behaviour 
or sadistic violence. Before refusing classification 
we will consider whether the problems could be 
adequately addressed through intervention such 
as cuts. In deciding whether to refuse to classify, 
we will keep in mind the inherent difficulty of using 
behavioural research to draw conclusions about 
real world risks, and will have regard to the full 
range of available evidence, including the views of 
the public and our own knowledge and experience.

In some cases, we require assurances, cuts or 
other changes (for example, the addition of 
warning captions) as a condition of classification, 
or as a condition of classifying at a particular 
category. In some circumstances we may refuse 
to classify a work at any category. We publish 
details of all interventions on our website.

Cuts for category
If the submitted work is suitable for classification, 
but only at a category higher than that requested 
by the customer, we will consider whether a lower 
category could be achieved through relatively 
minor or simple changes. If so, we may offer the 
customer a choice of accepting either the higher 
or lower category (the latter with defined changes 
as necessary).

Cuts for category are unlikely to be available if the 
required changes would be very extensive or 
complex, or would not address for example, a tonal 
or thematic issue running throughout the work. 

Compulsory cuts
If a submitted work raises issues or concerns 
that cannot be addressed by classification  
at a particular age category, we may require cuts 
or other changes as a condition of classification. 
Such intervention is most likely when the 
submitted work contains: 

●	�material which may promote criminal activity
●	�material which is obscene or otherwise illegal
●	�material created by means of the commission  

of a criminal offence
●	�portrayals of children in a sexualised or  

abusive context
●	�material which makes rape, other non-consensual 

sexually violent behaviour, or sadistic violence 
look appealing

Where possible we  
will carry out our 
responsibilities through 
appropriate use of the 
classification categories, 
particularly in order  
to protect children from 
any potential harm.

If necessary, however, 
we may cut or even 
refuse to classify a film 
or video work. 

Intervention

P
age 38



33

Newsletters 
We produce a regular newsletter about our  
latest classification decisions, podcasts and news. 
Our education team sends a newsletter to 
teachers once a term, focussing on our outreach 
programme, partnerships and resources, including 
case studies. For industry we send a regular 
update on our services, news and classification 
turnaround times each quarter. You can sign up 
to receive any of these newsletters on our 
website, bbfc.co.uk

Podcasts 
You can stream and download our regular short 
podcast on our website, Soundcloud and iTunes. 
Each episode focuses on a particular theme,  
film or TV series, and their age rating, highlighting 
key issues we took into account and any 
interesting facts about the classification process, 
for example any advice we gave, or reductions 
made by the film maker or distributor to secure  
a particular age rating.

We try to avoid giving away major plot points. 
When ratings info does contain plot spoilers we 
always post a warning. Occasionally, the longer 
version of ratings info describes full sequences 
in a film – for example, it might describe a 
specific fight scene to give you a flavour of the 
sort of violence in the film and how strong it 
looks and feels – so be aware of this.

We publish ratings info the moment a film or 
video is classified, but the longer version may 
not be available until 10 days before the film 
opens. Sometimes, we classify films many weeks 
or even months before they are due to open, 
which is why not all films listed on our website will 
have a link to the longer ratings info yet. We 
encourage viewers to check ratings info when 
they are choosing content for children and  
for themselves.

bbfc.co.uk
Our website provides a comprehensive database 
of all the content we classify, including ratings 
info and information about cuts. You can read the 
Classification Guidelines, search through our 
press releases, research and Annual Reports. We 
also publish case studies on films, including 
many set film texts for Film Studies courses in the 
UK, a timeline of key events in our history and 
regular podcasts. 

cbbfc.co.uk
Content for younger children, including the 
chance to rate trailers for children’s films and 
learn more about our work, can be found on 
CBBFC, our website for children. Parents can 
also find advice about choosing content for 
children on VoD platforms and information about 
our education programme.

BBFC app
Our free app for iOS and Android devices lets you 
check the latest film classifications and ratings 
info, watch trailers and read our Guidelines. 

Twitter – @BBFC
We update our Twitter account, @BBFC,  
with all our news and latest film classification 
decisions. You can ask us quick questions  
there too. For more detailed questions, you can 
email us on feedback@bbfc.co.uk

We publish detailed 
information about the 
content we classify, 
which we call ratings 
info. It’s a helpful  
guide, particularly for 
parents, that gives a 
summary of how and 
why a film or video  
was given its age rating. 

Engagement with the public

Ratings info includes: 
●	�a short description of the issues contained in  

a film or video, and this appears on the black 
card shown on the cinema screen before a film 
starts, for example:

strong violence, sex, language,  
drug misuse

●	�we publish a longer, fuller version on our  
website and app 

All content classified since the early 2000s has  
a short line of ratings info, and content classified 
more recently also has a longer version,  
giving you a detailed idea of what issues – bad 
language, drugs, sex and violence, or the use of 
discriminatory language or behaviour, for instance 
– you’re likely to find in the film. It also raises  
any other issues that may be of concern, such as 
divorce or bereavement.

P
age 39



3534

Appeals
We offer a formal reconsideration procedure 
which is open to any customer dissatisfied with 
the determination made in respect of their  
work. The reconsideration is free of charge and 
will normally take fewer than 10 working days.

A customer may also appeal directly to an 
independent authority. Such an appeal may take 
place following, or instead of, our reconsideration. 
In the case of films, the customer (or any member 
of the public) may address itself to the local 
authority which licenses cinemas in a particular 
area. In the case of video works a customer  
may appeal to the Video Appeals Committee. 
The VAC is independent of the BBFC and can  
be contacted by post as follows:

The Secretary
The Video Appeals Committee
3 Soho Square
London
W1D 3HD

Customers should note that a reconsideration  
or an appeal involves looking at the issues 
afresh. This means that the outcome could, in 
some circumstances, be more restrictive than 
the original determination.

Appeals, advice viewings  
and feedback

Advice viewings
A customer may submit works for advice at any 
stage of the production process. We will inform 
them of the likely classification a work will receive, 
and where appropriate any changes required  
to achieve the customer’s preferred classification. 
However, advice given in such circumstances  
is not binding and we reserve the right to reach 
a different decision when the final version of  
the work is submitted formally for classification. 
If the final version of the work submitted for 
classification differs in any significant respect from 
that seen for advice, and if those changes appear 
to reflect advice we have given, then details of 
the changes will appear on our website.

Feedback
If you want to send us any feedback about our 
age ratings or classification decisions, please 
don’t hesitate to email us at feedback@bbfc.co.uk 
or write to us at: 

Chief Executive’s Office
BBFC
3 Soho Square
London
W1D 3HD

P
age 40



36 37

The Licensing Act 2003
England and Wales
Cinemas (Northern Ireland) Order 1991 
Northern Ireland
Cinemas Act 1985
Scotland

Cinemas require a licence from the local authority 
in which they operate. The licence must include  
a condition requiring the admission of children 
(anyone under 18) to any film to be restricted in 
accordance with our recommendations or those 
of the licensing authority. One of the key reasons 
for the licensing requirement is the protection of 
children, including from potentially harmful 
content in films.

The Video Recordings Act 1984
Video works (including films, TV programmes and 
some video games) which are supplied on a  
disc, tape or any other device capable of storing 
data electronically must have a BBFC classification 
unless they fall within the definition of an 
exempted work. 

When considering whether to award a certificate 
to a work, or whether a work is suitable at a 
particular category, we are required by the Act 
to have special regard to the likelihood of works 
being viewed in the home, and to any harm that 
may be caused to potential viewers or, through 
their behaviour, to society by the manner in which 
the work deals with:

●	�criminal behaviour 
●	�illegal drugs 
●	�violent behaviour or incidents 

●	�horrific behaviour or incidents 
●	�human sexual activity 

In considering these issues we have in mind 
the possible effect not only on children but also 
on other vulnerable people.

The Obscene Publications Acts 1959 & 1964
England and Wales
The Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982
Scotland
The Obscene Publications Act 1857
Northern Ireland

It is illegal to publish a work which is obscene.  
A work is obscene if, taken as a whole, it has  
a tendency to deprave and corrupt a significant 
proportion of those likely to see it. Under the 
Obscene Publications Act 1959, no offence is 
committed if publication is justified as being for 
the public good on the grounds that it is in the 
interests of science, art, literature or learning or 
other objects of general concern.

In Scotland, case law implies a similar test would 
be applied. In Northern Ireland, while there is  
no express defence of “public good” it is likely that 
English law would be taken into consideration.

Criminal Justice and Immigration Act 2008
England, Wales and Northern Ireland
Criminal Justice and Licensing (Scotland) Act 
2010/Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982  
Scotland

It is illegal to be in possession of an extreme 
pornographic image. Under the Criminal  
Justice and Immigration Act 2008 an extreme 
pornographic image is one which is 
pornographic and grossly offensive, disgusting 
or otherwise of an obscene character, which 
features an apparently real person, and which 
portrays, in an explicit and realistic way, an  
act which: 

●	�threatens a person’s life
●	�results, or is likely to result, in serious injury to  

a person’s anus, breasts or genitals
●	�involves sexual interference with a human corpse
●	involves intercourse or oral sex with an animal 
●	�involves non-consensual penetration of a mouth, 

vagina or anus with a penis or non-consensual 
sexual penetration of a vagina or anus by anything 

Under the Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982 
an extreme pornographic image is one which  
is pornographic and obscene, and which depicts 
in an explicit and realistic way, an act which:

●	�takes or threatens a person’s life
●	�results, or is likely to result, in a person’s  

severe injury
●	�involves rape or other non-consensual  

penetrative sexual activity

●	�involves sexual activity involving (directly  
or indirectly) a human corpse

●	�involves sexual activity between a person  
and an animal

Works we classify under the Video Recordings 
Act are excluded from the scope of the offence 
across the UK.

The Protection of Children Act 1978 
England and Wales
Civic Government (Scotland) Act 1982 
Scotland
Protection of Children (Northern Ireland) 
Order 1978
Northern Ireland

It is illegal to make, distribute, show or possess 
indecent photographs or pseudo-photographs 
of a child. It is also illegal to make, distribute, 
show or possess indecent images of children 
which have been derived from a photograph  
or pseudo-photograph (for example, by tracing). 
Offences relating to the possession of such 
images are contained within the Criminal Justice 
Act 1988 (England, Wales and Scotland), and  
the Criminal Justice (Evidence, Etc.) (Northern 
Ireland) Order 1988. A child is defined as a 
person under the age of 18.

Annexe – legal considerations

The following legislation 
is not listed according to 
chronology or importance. 
Instead, it reflects a 
useful way of explaining 
the structure of the legal 
framework that applies  
to our work.

P
age 41



38 39

Annexe – legal considerations continued

The Coroners and Justice Act 2009  
England, Wales and Northern Ireland
The Criminal Justice and Licensing Act 2010
Scotland

It is illegal to be in possession of a prohibited 
image of a child. A prohibited image of a child is 
a non-photographic or non-pseudo-photographic 
image which is pornographic and grossly 
offensive, disgusting, or otherwise of an obscene 
character, and which focuses solely or principally 
on a child’s genitals or anal region, or which 
portrays specified sexual acts by, of, or in the 
presence of a child, including masturbation, oral 
sex or penetration, including sexual acts with 
animals. A child is defined as being under 18 and 
an image of a child or other person can include 
imaginary representations. Works we classify 
under the Video Recordings Act are excluded 
from the scope of the offence unless images 
have been extracted from such works for the 
purpose of sexual arousal.

The Sexual Offences Act 2003
England and Wales
Sexual Offences (Scotland) Act 2009
Scotland
The Sexual Offences (Northern Ireland)  
Order 2008
Northern Ireland

It is illegal to expose oneself with intent to cause 
alarm or distress – this offence augments the 
common law misdemeanour of indecent exposure. 
It is also prohibited for a person to record the 
private act of another, where the intention of the 
recording is for the sexual gratification of himself 
or a third party and where the recorded party has 
not consented to so being filmed. 

The Cinematograph Films (Animals) Act 1937
England, Scotland and Wales

It is illegal to show any scene “organised or 
directed” for the purposes of the film that involves 
actual cruelty to animals. This Act applies to the 
exhibition of films in public cinemas but we  
also apply the same test to video works. For the 
purposes of this legislation and The Animal 
Welfare Act 2006, only vertebrates which are 
domesticated or otherwise under the control of 
man are defined as “animals”.

The Animal Welfare Act 2006 
England and Wales
The Welfare of Animals Act  
(Northern Ireland) 2011
Northern Ireland
The Animal Health and Welfare  
(Scotland) Act 2006
Scotland

It is illegal to supply, publish, show or possess 
with intent to supply a video recording of an  
 “animal fight” that has taken place within the UK 
since 6 April 2007.

The Tobacco Advertising and  
Promotion Act 2002
It is illegal, in the course of a business, to publish 
a tobacco advertisement.

The Criminal Justice and Courts Act 2015
England and Wales
Abusive Behaviour and Sexual Harm 
(Scotland) Act 2016
Scotland
Justice Act (Northern Ireland) 2016 
Northern Ireland

It is an offence to disclose a private sexual 
photograph or film without the consent of any 
individual who appears in the photograph or  
film, if it is done with the intention of causing that 
individual distress (or causing them fear, alarm  
or distress in Scottish law).

The Public Order Act 1986
England, Scotland and Wales
The Public Order (Northern Ireland) Order 1987
Northern Ireland

It is illegal to distribute, show or play to the public 
a recording of visual images or sounds which are 
threatening, abusive or insulting if the intention 
is to stir up racial hatred or hatred on the grounds 
of sexual orientation, or if racial hatred or hatred 
on the grounds of sexual orientation is likely to be 
stirred up. It is also illegal to distribute, show or 
play to the public a recording of visual images or 
sounds which are threatening if the intention is 
to stir up religious hatred.

In Northern Ireland the relevant group of  
persons may be defined not only by colour, race, 
nationality or ethnic or national origins, but  
also by “religious belief” or “sexual orientation” 
or “disability”.

Blasphemy
In Scotland and Northern Ireland, the common 
law crime of blasphemy exists but has not been 
utilised for prosecution in modern times. The 
offences of blasphemy and blasphemous libel 
under the common law of England and Wales 
were abolished in The Criminal Justice and 
Immigration Act 2008.

Human Rights Act 1998
The Act permits such restrictions on freedom of 
expression as are prescribed by law and are 
necessary in a democratic society, in the interests 
of national security, territorial integrity or public 
safety, for the prevention of disorder or crime, for 
the protection of health or morals, for the 
protection of the reputation or rights of others, 
for preventing the disclosure of information 
received in confidence, or for maintaining the 
authority and impartiality of the judiciary.

Other unlawful material
In carrying out its responsibilities the BBFC will 
have regard to whether the material itself appears 
to be unlawful in the United Kingdom, or has 
arisen from the commission of an unlawful act.

P
age 42



British Board of Film Classification
3 Soho Square,
London,
W1D 3HD

T 020 7440 1570

bbfc.co.uk/about-bbfc/contact-us

BBFC Classification Guidelines 2019

Get more info on our app
bbfc.co.uk/app

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

The Electric Palace 

 

 
Safeguarding Policy for Children 
and Vulnerable Adults 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Including:  
 
Safeguarding Guide for Electric Palace Staff and Volunteers  

 
- and -   
 

Lost Child Procedure 

Page 45



 

 
 

Useful contact numbers 

 
Contacts 
 
Electric Palace Education Officer  

(Designated Safeguarding Officer) 
 

Hayley Forrest                                                                         0751 695 6215 

 
 
Electric Palace Operations Manager 
 

Michael Offord                                                         0773 430 0045 
 
 

Essex Children and Families Hub                       
(Available Mon-Thurs 8:45-5:30pm and Fri 8:45-4:30pm) 
 

         0345 603 7627 
 
Essex Children and Families Hub Out of Hours Service  
                                                                                                               

0345 606 1212 
 

Essex Safeguarding Adults Board 

                                                                                                               
0345 603 7630 

 

 

  

Page 46



 

 
 

Contents 
 
 
Policy Statement         p. 1 
 

Child Protection Procedures       p.2 
 
Guidelines for the board of trustees, staff, freelance staff,  

artists and volunteers        p.3 
 
Photography and Film        p.4 

 
Web Site Images         p.5 
 
What is Abuse?         p.6 

 
Responding to signs or suspicions of abuse     p.8 
 

Responding to disclosures of abuse      p.9 
 
Safeguarding Guide for Electric Palace Staff and Volunteers  p.10 

 
Lost Child Procedure        p.11 
 
 

Appendices 
 
Appendix 1. Safeguarding form for staff and volunteers   p.13 

 
Appendix 2. Lost Child procedure – at a glance guide   p.15 
 

 
 

Page 47



 

1 
 

Policy Statement 

 

The Electric Palace is committed to a practice which protects children1 and 
vulnerable adults2 from harm. 
 
The Electric Palace accepts and recognises the responsibility to develop 

awareness of the issues which may cause harm to children. 
 
The Electric Palace is committed to the safeguarding of children and 

vulnerable adults through the following means: 
 
• Awareness:  

Ensuring relevant staff and others are aware of abuse and the risks facing 
children and vulnerable adults. 
Providing effective management for staff and volunteers through 
supervision, support and training. 

 

• Prevention:  
Ensuring through awareness and a good code of practice, that staff and 
others minimise the risk facing children and vulnerable adults.  
Carefully following the procedures for recruitment and selection of staff, 
artists and volunteers 

 
• Reporting:  

Ensuring that all staff and others involved in our work are clear about what 
steps to take where concerns arise regarding the safety of children and 

vulnerable adults. 

 
• Responding:  

Ensuring action is taken to support and protect children where concerns 

arise regarding possible abuse. 

 
 
The Electric Palace is also committed to reviewing its policy and good 

practice at regular intervals. 
 
This policy is updated and reviewed on an annual basis.        

 
Last updated December 2020  

 
1 Throughout this policy, when reference is made to a child or to children, it is assumed that young people 
up to the age of 18 are included. 
2 Throughout this policy, a vulnerable adult is defined as anyone aged 18 years or over; who may be in 
need of community care services by reason of mental or other disability, age or illness; and who is or may 
be unable to take care of him or herself, or unable to protect him or herself against significant harm or 
exploitation 

Page 48



 

2 
 

Child Protection Procedures 
 
The Electric Palace endeavours to safeguard children and vulnerable adults 
by: 
 

• Recognising that all children and vulnerable adults have a right to freedom 
from abuse. 
 

• Ensuring that all our staff and volunteers are carefully selected and that 
those in regular contact with children and vulnerable adults have relevant 
and current Disclosure and Barring Service Checks. 
 

• Seeking written permission around issues such as photography and filming, 

ensuring that all staff and freelancers are trained accordingly. 
 

• Actively discouraging bullying, violent and degrading behaviour and taking 
measures to deal with such incidents should they arise. 
 

• Responding swiftly and appropriately to all suspicions or allegations of 

abuse, and providing parents/carers and children/vulnerable adults with the 
opportunity to voice any concerns they may have. 
 

• Disallowing children from consuming alcohol, drugs or smoking and 
carrying offensive weapons on the premises. 

 
• Providing effective management for relevant staff and volunteers in 

Children and Vulnerable Adults Protection matters through supervision, 
support and training. 
 

• Appointing a dedicated member of staff who will take specific responsibility 
for Children and Vulnerable Adults safety and act as the main point of 
contact for parents/carers, children/vulnerable adults, outside agencies and 
staff. 
 

• Ensuring that access to confidential information is restricted to the Electric 
Palace Designated Safeguarding Officer, to others on a “need to know” basis 
and to the appropriate external authorities. 
 

• Sharing information about good practice in relation to the protection of 

children and vulnerable adults with any agencies, freelance professionals, 
cinema staff, volunteers or other individuals who need to know. 
 

• Reviewing the effectiveness of the Children and Vulnerable Adults 
Protection Policy and activities each year at department level. 

 

  

Page 49



 

3 
 

Guidelines for the board of trustees, staff, 

freelance staff, artists and volunteers 
 
 
• The board, staff, freelance staff, artists and volunteers should not spend 

excessive amounts of time alone with children, away from others. 
 

• Meetings with individual children should take place as openly as possible in 
a public place where possible. 
 

• If privacy is needed, the door should be left open and other staff members 
informed of the meeting. 
 

• The board, staff, freelance staff, artists and volunteers are advised not to 
make unnecessary physical contact with children. 

 
• There are however, occasions where physical contact may be unavoidable, 

such as providing comfort and reassurance for a distressed child or physical 
support during physical activities such as workshops etc.  In all cases, 
physical contact should only take place with the consent of the child or 
young person i.e. ‘Is it ok if I.....?’ 

 
• It is not good practice to take children in a private car on journeys.  Where 

this is unavoidable, it should be with the full knowledge and written consent 
of the child/childrens’ parents and the Operations Manager at the Electric 
Palace. 

 
• The board, staff, freelance staff, artists and volunteers should not meet with 

children outside organised activities, unless it is with the knowledge and 
written consent of parents and the Education Officer or Operations Manager 
at the Electric Palace. 

 
• Any school or organisation bringing a group of young people or vulnerable 

adults to events at the Electric Palace must acknowledge the appropriate 
staff ratios for supervision before the visit can be confirmed. They should 
provide their own staff or volunteers for the occasion. Please ensure that a 

risk assessment, including a safeguarding check list, is carried out by 
Electric Palace staff in advance of any group visit.  

 
Appropriate staff ratios for the supervision of children are: 

1:3 for 0-2yr olds 
1:4 for 2-4yr olds  
1:6 for 4-8yr olds  
1:8 for 9-12yr olds  
1:10 for 13-18yr olds   

Page 50



 

4 
 

Photography and Film 
 
Photography and film are sometimes part of media coverage or events at 
the Electric Palace. The use of digital cameras and mobile phones present 

the opportunity for misuse of images. 
 

 
• Commissioned professional photographers or the media must be clear 

about expectations of them in relation to child protection and will be 
advised by Electric Palace staff in regard to this. 
 

• Provide a clear brief for photographic, video, online and film work about 
what is considered appropriate in terms of content and behaviour. 
 

• Introduce professional photographer, or other media professional to the 
entire group and explain their role, where relevant. 
 

• Inform participants, carers and parents that a photographer/media 
professional will be in attendance at an event and ensure that they 
consent to both the taking and publication of videos/film or photographs.   
 
Ensure that the consent form contains the following details: 

 
1. The name of the subject. 
2. The name and contact details of the parent/carer of the subject. 
3. The reason or use the images are being intended to be put to, with 

options for parents/carers to identify which they consent to. 
4. A signed declaration that the information provided is valid and that 

the images will only be used for the reasons given. 
 
• Do not allow unsupervised access to participants or one to one photo 

sessions at events. 

 

• Do not approve photo sessions outside the event. 

 

• Photographic and recording equipment including mobile phones is  

forbidden under all circumstances in any changing areas. 

 

 

  

Page 51



 

5 
 

Web Site Images 

 
There have been concerns about the risks posed directly and indirectly to 
children and young people through the use of photographs on web sites.  
Photographs can be used as a means of identifying children when they are 

accompanied with personal information.  This information can make a child 
vulnerable to an individual who may wish to start to “groom” that child for 
abuse.  Secondly the content of the photo can be used or adapted for 

inappropriate use and there is evidence of this adapted material finding its 
way onto child pornography sites. 
 
 

• Consider using models or illustrations if you are promoting a project. 
 

• Avoid the use of the first name and surname of the individuals in a 
photograph. 
 

• Only use images of participants in suitable dress to reduce the risk of 
inappropriate use. 
 

• Photographic and video material must be stored on the shared drive, not 
on the personal devices of the board, staff, artists or volunteers. 

 

 

  

Page 52



 

6 
 

What is Abuse? 
 
Abuse is any form of physical, emotional or sexual mistreatment or lack of 
care that leads to injury or harm.  It commonly occurs within relationships 

of trust or responsibility and represents an abuse of power and/or a breach 
of trust.  Abuse can happen to a child or vulnerable adult regardless of their 
age, gender, disability or race. 

 
 
Definitions of Abuse 

 
Physical Abuse 
Physically hurting or injuring a child. This can involve: 
 
• Hitting, shaking, throwing, poisoning, burning or scalding, drowning or 

suffocating. 
• Munchausen Syndrome by proxy, (whereby a parent/carer feigns the 

symptoms of, or deliberately causes ill health in a child/vulnerable 
adult). 

• Giving children alcohol, inappropriate drugs or poison. 

 

Sexual Abuse 
This involves forcing or enticing a child/vulnerable adult to take part in 
sexual activities, whether or not they are aware of what is happening.  It 
may involve physical contact, penetrative or non-penetrative acts. 

 
Emotional Abuse 
Persistent emotional ill treatment which is likely to cause serious harm to 

the child’s emotional development or harm and distress to a vulnerable 
adult. 
 

Neglect 
The persistent failure to meet basic emotional needs, which is likely to 
result in serious impairment to health or development.  This may include 
the failure of the parent/carer to supply food, shelter or clothing or a failure 

to protect from physical harm and danger, or allow access to medical care 
or treatment.  It may also include neglect of, or unresponsiveness to basic 
emotional needs, such as: 

 
• Persistent lack of love and affection. 
• Constant overprotection which prevents children from socialising. 
• Children are frequently being shouted at or taunted. 
• Bullying, neglect, physical or sexual abuse. 

 

 

Page 53



 

7 
 

Contextual Safeguarding 
The risks presented by social conditions, that exist outside of familial 

relationships, and are not related to the capacity of parents/carers, such as: 
 

• Peer on peer relationship abuse. 
• Criminal exploitation (including County Lines). 
• Sexual exploitation/online abuse. 
• Risks associated with gangs/groups. 
• Radicalisation. 
• Trafficking and modern slavery. 

 
 
Signs and Indicators of Abuse and Risk 
 

• Unexplained or untreated bruising or injuries. 
• Suffering continual stomach pains or other physical ailments without 

any medical explanation. 
• Aggressive or withdrawn behaviour and refusal to talk about injuries. 
• Unexpected fear of an adult and flinching when touched. 
• Sexually explicit behaviour and language. 
• Unaccounted for sources of money. 
• Unaccounted for access to new equipment/clothing etc. 
• Fear of going home to parents or carers or of them being contacted. 
• Changes over time in manner and appearance such as losing weight, 

becoming dirty and dishevelled, being constantly tired and always 
hungry. 

• Telling you about being asked to ‘keep a secret’ or dropping other hints 
or clues about abuse. 

 
  

Page 54



 

8 
 

Responding to signs or suspicions of abuse 
 
All staff and freelancers have a duty to refer cases where abuse is known to 
have happened or is suspected. 

 
Be alert for signs of abuse.  However, even if a child or vulnerable adult is 
displaying some or all of these signs, it does not necessarily mean they are 

being abused – there may be other causes.  Also, none of these signs may be 
present – you may just feel that there is something wrong.  If you are 
worried about possible abuse it is your responsibility to put the interests of 

the child or vulnerable adult first and report it immediately.  You should 
report it to the Electric Palace Designated Safeguarding Officer.   
 
(If your concerns are about this person, you should report it to their line 

manager, a Director of the Electric Palace, or if this is impossible go directly 
to the police or social services.) 
 

Do not initiate a conversation with the child or vulnerable adult to ask them 
about your concerns. You should inform the Electric Palace Designated 
Safeguarding Officer of your concerns.  

 
If you are working in a setting such as a school or residential establishment 
this setting should have established procedures in place regarding 
suspicions or allegations of abuse.  You should follow their procedures but 

also inform the Electric Palace Designated Safeguarding Officer. 
 
  

Page 55



 

9 
 

Responding to disclosures of abuse 
 
If a child or vulnerable adult discloses abuse to you, you should inform the 
Electric Palace Designated Safeguarding Officer as soon as possible.  You 

should also: 
 

• Let them know that it is right to tell someone of their worries. 
 

• Listen attentively. 
 

• Stay calm. 
 

• Make sure that they know that they are not to blame for what has 
happened. 
 

• Explain that you will have to tell someone else about the abuse, you 
cannot keep this secret, even if this discourages them from disclosing 
further. 
 

• Only ask factual questions to establish what has happened.   
DO NOT ASK LEADING QUESTIONS. 

 
• Make a note of what the child/vulnerable adult has said, together with 

the date and time of your conversation, sign it and immediately tell the 
Electric Palace Designated Safeguarding Officer. Try to use the language 
which was used in the disclosure not your own language. 
 

• Do not share this information with anyone other than the Electric Palace 
Designated Safeguarding Officer, or those members of staff with 
responsibility for safeguarding.  A list of relevant staff members is 
available at the front of this document.  Do not contact or approach the 
parents or carers about the conversation or any person suspected of 
abuse 

 

Electric Palace staff, volunteers and freelancers are not professionals in 
child protection.  Wherever possible it is their duty to report any of their 
own observations/disclosures to the person responsible for child 
protection when working in offsite locations.  

 
The Electric Palace uses a form for recording safeguarding concerns (see 
Appendix 1: Safeguarding form for staff and volunteers). There are copies of 

this form in the duty managers’ folder in the office.  
 
Please complete Section A of the form. Follow the instructions on the form 

to record the important details about who may have been harmed and write 
down what has happened in as much detail as possible. Information will 
then be passed to the relevant authorities and agencies by the Electric 
Palace Designated Safeguarding Officer. 

Page 56



 

10 
 

Safeguarding Guide for Electric Palace Staff and 

Volunteers 
 

Some common signs of abuse/safeguarding concerns to look out 
for 
 

• Unexplained or untreated bruising or injuries. 
• Suffering continual stomach pains or other physical ailments without 

any medical explanation. 
• Aggressive or withdrawn behaviour and refusal to talk about injuries. 
• Unexpected fear of an adult and flinching when touched. 
• Sexually explicit behaviour and language. 
• Unaccounted for sources of money. 
• Unaccounted for access to new equipment/clothing etc. 
• Fear of going home to parents or carers or of them being contacted. 
• Changes over time in manner and appearance such as losing weight, 

becoming dirty and dishevelled, being constantly tired and always 
hungry. 

• Telling you about being asked to ‘keep a secret’ or dropping other hints 
or clues about abuse. 

 

 

Procedure to follow if you have a safeguarding concern when at 

work: 
 
If you see something that concerns you: 

 
- Do not ask leading questions or try to elicit a disclosure 

- Take as many detailed and factual notes as you can as soon after your 

concern as possible using section A of the form provided by the Electric 

Palace.  

- Report immediately to: 

a) Laura Ager (Designated Safeguarding Officer)  

b) Michael Offord 

c) Any senior member of staff 

 

If a member of staff shares a safeguarding concern with you: 
 

- Report immediately to Laura Ager (Designated Safeguarding Officer) 

07999204378 

- If Laura is unavailable, call the Essex Child and Family Hub on 0345 603 

7627 and ask for advice  

Page 57



 

11 
 

Lost Child procedure 
 
As soon as a child is thought to be missing notify the Duty Managers 
immediately. 

 
Duty Managers will begin an immediate search of the building. 
 

If necessary, staff members should be called away from other duties to assist 
with the search. 
 

All staff involved in the search should remain in radio contact. 
 
The artist or leader of session should stay with their group, to ensure the 
safety of other children at the session.  

 
Once the child is located, they should be returned to the session. 
 

If necessary, the Duty Managers can administer First Aid. 
 
Parents / carers should be informed of the incident, and a clear 

understanding of the risks going forward should be discussed. 
 
The incident needs to be reported to the Electric Palace Designated 
Safeguarding Officer. 

 
If the child is not located inside the building, the Police or Police 
Community Support Officer must be contacted by the Duty Managers, using 

999 / 101.  
 
The police will want to know the following information:  

 
• Where you are (address of setting / venue).  
 
• The next of kin of the child.  

 
• A detailed description of the child, including age and gender, working 
down from head to toe including as much clothing description as 

possible.  
 
• The circumstances of the incident, including anything that may have 

triggered the disappearance, how long have they been missing, where 
were they last seen, was there an argument or disturbance.  
 

Page 58



 

12 
 

• Who is looking for the child, where are they, do they have a mobile 
with them, what is the number?  

 
The police will require all information on the incident so far, including any 
prior conversations and advice from the police.  
 

Contact the parent / carer using contact details held (it is very important 
that class registers are kept up to date and in a safe location). Continue 
calling until contact is made. Duty Managers or the Electric Palace 

Designated Safeguarding Officer will be responsible for this. 
 
Staff should continue to search (until advised otherwise by the police).  

 
Always consider the requirements of the children still at the setting.  
 
If any safeguarding concerns are raised by the incident, the procedures set 

out in the Electric Palace Safeguarding Policy for Children and Vulnerable 
Adults should be followed. 
 

Risk assessments will need to be reviewed and updated as necessary by the 
Electric Palace Designated Safeguarding Officer and other relevant staff. 
 

 
See Appendix 2. for a concise version of this procedure.  
Copies of this document are kept in the duty managers’ folder in the office. 
  

Page 59



 

13 
 

  

Appendix 1: Safeguarding form for staff and volunteers.  

Page 60



 

14 
 

  

Page 61



 

15 
 

Lost Child procedure  
 
Notify the Duty Managers immediately. The Duty Managers will search the 
building. 
 
Other staff members may assist, all staff involved in the search must remain in 
phone contact. 
 
The artist or leader of session should stay with their group, to ensure the safety 
of other children at the session. Always consider the requirement for any other 
children in the building.  
 
Once the child is located, they should be returned to the group. 
 
If necessary, the Duty Managers can administer First Aid. 
 
If the child is not located inside the building, the police must be contacted by 
the Duty Managers using 999 / 101.  
 
The police will want to know the following information:  

 
• Where you are (address of setting/venue).  
 
• The next of kin of the child.  
 
• A detailed description of the child, including age and gender, working 
down from head to toe including as much clothing description as possible.  
 
• The circumstances of the incident, including anything that may have 
triggered the disappearance, how long have they been missing, where 
were they last seen, was there an argument or disturbance.  
 
• Who is looking for the child, where are they, do they have a mobile with 
them, what is the number?  

 
 
Contact the parent / carer using contact details held. Continue calling until 
contact is made. 
 
The incident needs to be reported to the Electric Palace Designated 
Safeguarding Officer, who will carry out a review of the risk assessment.  
 
If any safeguarding concerns are raised by the incident, the procedures set out 
in the Electric Palace Safeguarding Policy for Children and Vulnerable Adults 
should be followed. 
 

Appendix 2. Lost Child Procedure - at a glance guide  

Page 62



Appendix C

Harwich Shorts Short Film Submissions and Synopsis with Content advice 

Film Name Filmmaker Notes Suggested 
Classification 

Disconnected Sophie Max Contains Severe Threat, implied violcence and themes of domestic 
abuse.  
A short film written and directed by Sophie Max and filmed entirely 
on Zoom. During the COVID-19 lockdown, Tara (Erin Elkin) calls her 
sister Sam (Cate Johannessen) and her Dad (Ian Laing), but the 
conversation takes a turn none of them expected. 

PG 

Boudicas Lament Essex 100 
Publications/Andrew 
Summers 

Contains Oral Accounts of Flogging and Abuse, Ransacking of Cities 
etc… artists images of dead soliders.  A short film imagining the 
narrative from Boudica about the uprising against the Romans in 
AD60. 

PG 

Chimera 2020 Larain Briggs The Aletheia Art Collective was formed to create Chimera: 2020; a 
visual and audio response - melding past, present and future - to the 
Coronavirus. Its central theme is the existential suffering the artists 
shared and witnessed due to loss of autonomy, connectedness and 
temporality; thoughts of dying, death and the uncertainty inherent in 
adjusting to life during a pandemic.  Covid continues to impact the 
collective psyche.   

PG 

Dino Danger Noah Jewell Contains Scenes of mild threat.  
A Boy gets more than he bargained for whilst doing his chores.  

PG 

Isolated Daryl Jewell/Cave Demon Contains Scenes of severe threat, strong language and horror   A 
routine shift for an iridium haulier takes an unexpected turn. 

PG 

I Don't Care The Penny Antics The self-made music video for the song ‘I Don’t Care’ – one of the singles 
from the ‘NOT(e)WORTHY’ EP by The Penny Antics.  

PG 

P
age 63



Appendix C

The White Butterfly Ideas Hub/Shane 
Ibbs 

  Contains Descriptions of Death A thought-provoking tale set in Japan 
that discusses one man's journey to death and what that means for 
him and those around him. Everyone's experience of death is unique. 
Does this raise any emotions and thoughts for you? Let us know. To 
find out more about the Dying Matters In Essex Partnership visit 
(huunuu.info/dyingmattersinessex). For support about any issues 
raised contact Healthwatch Essex -( healthwatchessex email) 
A story by Shane Ibbs, produced in collaboration with huunuu and 
the Ideas Hub, Chelmsford as part of the Dying Matters In Essex 
Partnership and thanks to an Awards for All grant from the National 
Lottery 

PG 

Do Not Avert Your Eyes Christian Fairhall-Smith  Contians Flashing Imagery An avant-garde collage of footage from 
various events in late 2019. An overstimulating two-minute burst of 
light and colour. A portrait of a world that was soon to be ripped 
away. 

U 

A Bright Idea Harry Self Stop Motion Animation created by Harry Self during Lockdown.  PG 
Tommy Darby John Charles McAllister Contains lyrics about the death of a young boy and the recovery of his 

body. IMAGES PIXLEATED AND MAY NOT BE SUITABLE FOR 
SCREENING  An Ilustrated Song - Tommy Darby - A Boy know to the 
filmaker who drowned whilst walking on the ice canal in 1962. The song 
writer witnessed the recovery of the body - with the story told in the song.  

PG 

P
age 64



Appendix C

Essex Film Collective Short Film Submissions and Synopsis with Content Advice 

Film Name Filmmaker Notes Suggested 
Classfication 

Nuts David Gardner Contains some violence and Swearing, 
Imitiable behavoiur ie) Use of Knife as 
method of self defense..  
A young man is attacked by a masked 
assailent  but all is not as it seems.  

12 

My First D*!k  Kate Mccoid    12A 
    Contains Strong Adult Themes and MAture 

Content including Nudity and Swearing 
Dark Comedy that critics sexualistaion in 
mainstream media and its impacts on young 
people.  
Based on a true story, set in the year 2000. It 
has been exactly 365 days.Since Hannah 
stumbled across Lolo Ferrari in the 1999 
Guinness World Book of Records at the 
school library, which ignited a fiery obsession 
of drawing women with giant knockers. 
Today is Hannah’s 11th birthday and she 
only wants one thing – to see a penis.  

  

Achillies David 
Freedman 

Contains Scenes of implied horro that are 
dark in tone. Dir. Adam Morris, shot in Essex 
and which is partly about memory and an 
homage to the silent era. It was shot on 
Super 8mm film with no editing. Film Makers 
even opted to leave the sprocket holes 
visible and a vintage film projector is 
featured. Like silent era films of circa 1911, it 
had no production sound recorded, but 
simply has a soundtrack (with a wonderful 
score and voiceover) and intertitles (title 
cards). 

12A 

Page 65



Appendix C

Terminus Tippy Elgar Contains Scenes that simulate Self Harm, 
and scenes of Horror.  
 Midsummer is told from the perspectives of 
the four elements who meet together in an 
ancient forest. When a Victorian tea table 
appears among the trees, they are tempted 
to leave their natural environment and join 
the party. 
To date it has won numerous awards both 
nationally & internationally on the film 
festival circuit.  It was created as a result of 
the continued heat waves, wildfires & 
pollution that damage the local Essex 
woodland & coastline. 

12A 

Red Ball George Morgan Contains Scenes of Grief and bleeding  
Following a family tragedy in Brixton, 
Bamike, a Black British teenager, is forced to 
migrate to Essex and subsequently confront 
the fantasies he has conjured of his dead 
older brother, Femi. 
This animation is based on a true story of 
Writer/Director George Morgan and has 
been funded by Screen South and Creative 
Estuary. The use of animation allows this 
story, told from the perspective of a young 
teenager, to come to life in beautiful and 
unexpected ways. The film was completed in 
October 2022 and is currently doing a film 
festival circuit. 

PG 

        

In Absentia Charles Cox   PG 
    Contains scenes depicitng symptoms of 

dementia. All is not what it seems when a 
troubled young soldier meets a strange old 
man just one week before he's due to 
embark for the Normandy landings in June 
1944. 

  

Page 66



Appendix C

Baggage Lewis Ward Contains Strong Adult Themes and Mature 
Content including implied Murder, disposal 
of a corpse, strong language. Just when 
Alvin thinks his relationship with Vanessa is 
finished, he stumbles upon her gruesome 
secret stuffed inside the pantry. To protect 
his innocence, he feels compelled to help 
Vanessa, he assists her on the uneasy 
journey to dispose of the unexplained 
corpse, where they are forced to rethink 
their breakup. 

12A 

Off Fleek Aura Films Contains Strong Adult Content - including 
Depicitons of bullying and severe self harm 
Emma, an insecure teenager, suffers 
horrendous cyber bullying from her peers 
from school. Inexplicably, the body shaming 
abuse she receives begins to transform her 
appearance, and her worse fears come true. 
Emma decides to take drastic action to 
address the situation, which has disastrous 
consequences for herself and her family. Off 
Fleek is a horror film which explores themes 
relating to bullying and body image. It has 
won multiple awards at Short Film Festivals. 

12A 

Its not Custard Kate Mccoid  Contains offensive language and scenes of 
horror, . It's Not Custard is the darkly comic 
story of Louise, a teenager suffering 
unrelenting acne and continual bullying, at 
home from her cruel older sister Jennifer, 
and at school from tormentors in and out of 
class. She wishes to cease their teasing and 
she is presented with such an opportunity 
when she awakes to find her acne gone. 
However, this magical gift has a bizarre 
consequence...and it's one that favours our 
hero. 

12A 

Wings Jamie Weston A heartwarming LGBTQ+ love story that 
spans over six decades, between two Land 
Army girls during World War II. A partly silent 
film, accompanied by a beautiful score, 
starring BAFTA award-winning actresses. 

PG 

Sighting Maximillian 
Newcombe 

Animated Micro Short about youthfull 
wonder 

PG 

Page 67



Appendix C

Via(dolo) Daniel Keeble Contains scenes of intense threat/sexual 
language and glamoriastion of drug use.   
 A young woman embarks on a traumatic 
journey as she overcomes an invisible force. 

12A 

        

Lilith: the (un)holy trinity  Laura Healey    12 
    The (Un)Holy Trinity explores female 

objectification through a Biblical lens.  The 
installation draws inspiration from three 
legendary ‘fallen’ women: Eve, Lilith and 
Salome, who through their supposedly 
‘unnatural’ acts of defiance, aggression, or 
desire for autonomy, 
 have been demonised to serve as a warning 
as to how destructive female sexuality can 
be if left unchecked.     The three-filmed 
performances seek to not only explore these 
women in their moment of defiance, but to 
challenge the demonised perceptions of the 
so-called ‘unnatural’ woman.  Each 
performance celebrates these women for 
their supposedly ‘unwomanly’ ways by 
drawing upon the moment each woman 
asserts her will, to reveal her true inner 
strength and agency in order to defy the 
traditional and suffocating roles that have 
long been allotted to them.  By extension, 
the films seek to question why these 
ingrained perceptions of powerful women as 
shameful or demonic - views that deny 
female strength and sexuality - still exist 
today. 

  

Page 68



Appendix C

The Siren  Laura Healey  Contains explicit Nudity The Siren is a digital 
performance that uses the image and plays 
to the preconceived notions of this mythical 
temptress to explore the true nature of the 
audiences gaze, their innate desire to watch 
and how the female form is represented 
within art and film. By playing to and 
embodying these traditional clichés - 
beautiful, dangerous and always naked - the 
film seeks to both challenge these sexual 
clichés and to finally give a strong and 
powerful voice to the Siren.Filmed entirely 
underwater in slow motion and originally 
projected as a life size holographic film 
installation, the film makes the impossible - a 
women living and breathing underwater - 
become a reality.  Beautiful and haunting, 
she exists within the substantial nothingness 
of the screen as pure artifice and constructs 
her own reality, where she transcends the 
sexual clichés attached to the perception of 
the Siren and forces her audience to not only 
acknowledge her presence, power and 
autonomy, but to question who is in control 
of the gaze: the watcher or the watched?   

12A 

Home Care Sam Windle A fly encounter between an old man and a 
care worker 

PG 

Dead of Night Chris Powell Contains Strong Adult Themes including 
scenes of intense threat, Murder, Greif, 
poisening, Use of Guns.   
A Hit Man visits his vicitm, but all is not as it 
seems.  

12A 

        
Little Mary Duncan 

Paveling 
  PG 

    Contains Scense of Grief After a diagnosis of 
cancer, Mary, an experienced Marionette 
maker, turns to her craft and beloved 
husband, as a way to deal with her grief. 

  

Page 69



Appendix C

Driver Ben Mills Contains Scenes of Intense Threat and 
Murder. A missing girl has sparked outrage, 
concern, and rumor in a small seaside town. 
The driver spends his day listening to 
people's theories and opinions opinions of 
what really happened to Fiona French. 

12A 

Page 70



APPENDIX D
Licensing Act 2003 Licensing Policy Extract 
 
Film Exhibitions 

 
6.8 In the case of film exhibitions, if relevant representations are made, the Licensing 

Authority will expect licence and certificate holders and those who have given notice 
of a Temporary Event within the terms of the 2003 Act to implement measures that 
restrict children from viewing age-restricted films classified according to the 
recommendations of the British Board of Film Classification or the Council. In the case 
of a film exhibition that has not been classified, the Licensing Authority will expect the 
licensee to conduct an assessment of the suitability of the film for exhibition to children 
and to implement measures that restrict viewing by children if appropriate. 

 
6.9  If relevant representations are made and it is considered appropriate and proportionate 

for the promotion of the licensing of the licensing objective, the Licensing Authority 
may require that adult supervisors be checked for suitability to work with children.  
 

6.10 The Licensing Authority will rarely impose complete bans on access to children.  
However, in exceptional circumstances where relevant representations have been 
made, conditions restricting access or excluding children completely may be 
considered appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objective. 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX E
S182 Extracts – Film Guidance 

Protection of children from harm 
2.30 The 2003 Act provides that, where a premises licence or club premises certificate 

authorises the exhibition of a film, it must include a condition requiring the 
admission of children to films to be restricted in accordance with recommendations 
given either by a body designated under section 4 of the Video Recordings Act 1984 
specified in the licence (the British Board of Film Classification is currently the only 
body which has been so designated) or by the licensing authority itself. Further 
details are given in Chapter 10. 

 

Censorship 
10.17 In general, other than in the context of film classification for film exhibitions, 

licensing authorities should not use their powers under the 2003 Act to seek to 
impose conditions which censor the content of any form of regulated entertainment. 
This is not a proper function of licensing law and cannot be properly related to the 
licensing objectives. The content of regulated entertainment is a matter which is 
addressed by existing laws governing indecency and obscenity. Where the concern 
is about protecting children, their access should be restricted where appropriate. 
But no other limitation should normally be imposed. 

 

Exhibition of films 
10.59 The 2003 Act provides that where a premises licence or club premises certificate 

authorises the exhibition of a film, it must include a condition requiring the 
admission of  children to films to be restricted in accordance with recommendations 
given either by a  body designated under section 4 of the Video Recordings Act 1984 
specified in the licence (currently only the British Board of Film Classification 
(BBFC)) or by the licensing authority itself. 

10.60 The effect of paragraph 5 of Schedule 1 to the 2003 Act is to exempt adverts from 
the definition of regulated entertainment, but not exempt them from the definition 
of exhibition of a film. Since the above mandatory condition applies to ‘any film’, it 
is therefore applicable to the exhibition of adverts. 

 

Children and cinemas 
14.62 The statement of policy should make clear that in the case of premises giving film
 exhibitions17, the licensing authority will expect licence holders or clubs to include in 
 their operating schedules arrangements for restricting children from viewing age-
 restricted films classified according to the recommendations of the British Board of 

Page 73



APPENDIX E
 Film Classification or the licensing authority itself (see paragraphs 10.59 to 10.60).

Page 74


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meetings of the Sub-Committee 8 April 2022
	Minutes Public Pack, 08/04/2022 Premises / Personal Licences Sub-Committee
	Minutes


	5 Report of Assistant Director (Governance & Legal) - A.1 - Application for the grant of permission to show unclassified films
	Appendix A - BBFC Film Classification Guidelines
	Appendix B - Electric Palace Safeguarding Policy
	Appendix C Harwich Shorts Short Film Submissions and Synopsis with Content advice
	Appendix C Essex Film Collective Short Film Submissions and Synopsis with Content Advice
	Appendix D - LA Policy Extract (films)
	Appendix E - S182 Guidance (films)
	Protection of children from harm
	Censorship
	Exhibition of films

	Children and cinemas
	14.62	The statement of policy should make clear that in the case of premises giving film	exhibitions17, the licensing authority will expect licence holders or clubs to include in
	their operating schedules arrangements for restricting children from viewing age-	restricted films classified according to the recommendations of the British Board of 	Film Classification or the licensing authority itself (see paragraphs 10.59 to 10.60).



